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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any

loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “"Group” or “"We") collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would

make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of Boltek Holdings Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (the “Year").

LISTING ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE

The ordinary shares of our Company were successfully listed (the
"Listing”) on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13 September 2018
(the “Listing Date"”) which marked a significant milestone for our
Group. 200,000,000 ordinary shares of our Company were issued
under the share offer (the “Share Offer”), raising net proceeds of
approximately HK$55.2 million (after deducting expenses from the
Listing ("Listing Expenses”)).

OVERVIEW

With the capital raised from the Listing, the Group has greater
flexibility to enhance our service capacity with a newly employed
in-house team of professional staff which strengthens the Group’s

market position in Hong Kong.

For the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$88.4 million, representing an increase of approximately 2.6% as
compared to approximately HK$86.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2017. For the Year, the Group recorded loss attributed
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$1.4 million as
compared to profit recorded for the year ended 31 December 2017
of approximately HK$17.2 million. The decrease of the profit was
mainly attributable to the nonrecurring Listing Expenses for the

Year.
Setting aside the Listing Expenses, the Group's net profit for

the Year would have been approximately HK$16.4 million (2017:
HK$17.2 million).
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PROSPECT

In view of the strong demand in the infrastructure development
market, infrastructure developers are more actively launching new

projects with aggressive financing schemes.

There has been an increasing number of project quotation
invitations received by the Group from potential and current
customers, and the net proceeds from the Listing are expected
to allow expansion of the Group’s service capacity. The Group will
continue to improve our operation efficiency and profitability of our
business. The Group plans to expand our team of professionals,
which will enhance the basis of our technical capability to bid for
future projects. The Group will also proactively seek opportunities
to expand our customer base and our market share and undertake
more building projects which will enhance value to our shareholders

and stakeholders.

Based on the Group's accumulated expertise and experiences
in the industry, the Directors are cautiously optimistic about the

Group's business outlook.

The Board believes that the Listing has enhanced the Group'’s
image in relevant business sectors. With our active business
strategy in the coming year, the Group expects to create greater

value to our shareholders and investors.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, let me take this opportunity to extend

our heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, business partners,
customers, and employees for your continuous support and
contribution to the Group. We are committed to delivering value

and bringing returns to all our stakeholders.

Cheung Kwan Tar
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 March 2019
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (5R&3Z), aged 57, is an executive Director
of our Company. He was appointed as a Director on 18 April 2018
and re-designated as an executive Director, and appointed as
the chief executive officer of our Company and the chairman of
our Board on 20 August 2018. Mr. Cheung is a member of the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of
our Company and chairman of the nomination committee (the
"Nomination Committee”) of our Company. Since September
2006, Mr. Cheung has been a director of Mannings (Asia)
Consultants Limited (“Mannings”).

Mr. Cheung is the spouse of Ms. Chiu Chui Ping, the chief
administrative officer of the Company. Mr. Cheung is also the sole
director of both Waywin Investment Holding Limited, a substantial

shareholder of the Company, and Richness Universal Limited.

Mr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) from
Queen Mary College, University of London in the United Kingdom
in August 1983. Over the years, Mr. Cheung has obtained various
professional qualifications and memberships including the

following:

Professional qualifications
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Dates of admission or appointment

EEXER AEBREEAH
Fellow of the Institution of Civil Engineers 26 September 2016
TATITEMBEEREE “E-RFAAZ+TRAE
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers 8 May 2013
BETIIRMPEEREER —E-=FRANR
Fellow and Chartered Structural Engineer of the Institution of 6 October 2016

Structural Engineers
ERITIEMPEEREE MEFTEBIIZM
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Highways and Transportation
BENKEBRERGE
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Ng Pak Hung (2 #878), aged 44, was appointed as a Director
on 18 April 2018 and redesignated as an executive Director on 20
August 2018. Before joining our Group, Mr. Ng has had extensive
work experience in managing various kinds of infrastructural
projects. Since August 2006, he has been an operations director of
Mannings. He was appointed as a professional assessment assessor

of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since 2011.

Mr. Ng obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) in Civil and
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 1996. In November 2002, he obtained
a Master of Arts in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution (equivalent
to a Master of Laws in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution) from the
City University of Hong Kong. Over the years, Mr. Ng has obtained
various professional qualification and memberships, including the

following:

Professional qualifications
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Dates of admission or appointment

HEER AEBREEAH
Accredited NEC3: ECC Project Manager 27 January 2016
FAINEC3 : ECCIA H 4512 —E-AF-A=Z+tH
Registered Professional Engineer (Civil/Structural), 30 August 2002

Engineers Registration Board
Ti2RREMER BEMEX TR (LA 4H)
Member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
RFFfrREZee 8
Member of The Institution of Structural Engineers
rEIEMmEees
Chartered Engineer of the Engineering Council, United Kingdom
R TIEEE SR IIZA
Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
HEIIRMPEee8
Chartered Civil Engineer and Member of The Institution of

Civil Engineers
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (PR #1 #R), aged 68, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, member of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) of our Company and member
of the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for

providing independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam obtained a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering from University of Hong Kong in November 1973 and
a Master of Business Administration from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong in December 1983. He was admitted as fellow of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers in May 2011 and is certified as
a registered professional engineer by the Engineers Registration
Board.

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (BR B{¥R), aged 63, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He
is a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing

independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong in March 1984 and has been a
partner of C.L. Chow & Macksion Chan, a law firm based in Hong
Kong, since 2001. He is a China Appointed Attesting Officer
appointed by the Ministry of Justice of China.

Since February 2013, Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion has been a non-
executive director of Oi Wah Pawnshop Credit Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1319).

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in

Pure Mathematics from the University of Calgary, Canada in June
1978.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Mr. Chan Wan Fung (Bf & £), aged 49, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee. He is primarily responsible for

providing independent judgement to our Board.

In May 2011, he joined Travel Expert (Asia) Enterprises Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1235), as its
chief financial officer and since April 2012, he has been an executive

director of that company.

Mr. Chan Wan Fung was admitted as an associate of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants in January 1995. In February
1997, he was admitted as an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan Wan Fung graduated with
a Bachelor of Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 1991, and a Master of Business
Administration from the University of Birmingham, United Kingdom

in July 2011.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shek Man Wah (£ 3 #), aged 52, is the chief operating
officer of our Company and is responsible for overseeing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group. In
May 2006, he joined Mannings as an associate. Since June 2006, he

has been an operations director of Mannings.

Mr. Shek obtained a Bachelor of Applied Science in Civil
Engineering from the University of British Columbia, Canada in May
1991 and was elected as a member of the Chartered Institution of
Highways and Transportation in April 2001. He obtained a Master
of Business Administration jointly awarded by the University of New

South Wales and the University of Sydney in Australia in June 2002.

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (i 2 3%
officer of our Company. Ms. Chiu is responsible for the overseeing

), aged 50, is the chief administrative

the human resources and administrative functions of our Group.

Since October 2005, she has been a director of Mannings.

Ms. Chiu obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Business
Administration in March 2004 and a Master of Business
Administration in November 2005, both from the University of
Wales, Newport, United Kingdom and through long distance

learning courses.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

Mr. So William (& {2 B&), aged 47, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing
the execution and completion of projects undertaken by our
Group. Since September 2006 (subject to a period of absence
from November 2008 to January 2009), he has been working for
Mannings, first as a senior engineer and then promoted as a

divisional director in April 2014.

Mr. So was admitted as member of the Institution of Highways
and Transportation in April 1998, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council, United Kingdom in December 2002 and as
member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in July 2005. Mr. So
graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Middlesex
University in the United Kingdom in July 1993.

Mr. Lam Chi Chiu (#&i#), aged 49, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group.
Since September 2016, Mr. Lam has been a divisional director of

Mannings.

Mr. Lam was admitted as member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers in December 1996, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council on July 1997, as member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers in July 1997, and as member of the
Institution of Structural Engineers in October 1997. He was certified
as registered professional engineer in Hong Kong by Engineers
Registration Board from July 2013 to June 2014.

Mr. Lam graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in December 1992. He also obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London in the
United Kingdom in August 2007.

Mr. Yu Chun Kit (R % #), aged 29, is the financial controller
and company secretary of our Company. Mr. Yu joined our Group
in January 2018 as the financial controller of Mannings and was
appointed as our company secretary in April 2018. He is responsible
for the overall financial management of our Group. Mr. Yu obtained
a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) in Accounting &
Finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October
2011. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in July 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

We are an engineering consultant in Hong Kong with a focus on
the field of infrastructure developments. We have accumulated
our expertise in different branches of engineering, covering (i) civil
engineering mainly comprising road and structural engineering as

well as geotechnical engineering; and (i) traffic engineering.

For the Year, the Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$1.4
million. When compared with the year ended 31 December 2017
the Group recorded a profit of approximately HK$17.2 million. The
Directors are of the view that the loss was primarily due to the non-
recurring Listing Expenses amounting to approximately HK$17.8
million incurred for the Year. Setting aside the Listing Expenses, the

Group's profit for the Year would be approximately HK$16.4 million.

OUTLOOK

The Group always strives to improve our operation efficiency and
profitability of our business. The Group will also proactively seek
opportunities to expend our customer base and our market share
and undertake more projects which will enhance value to our

shareholders.

The net proceeds from the Share Offer will provide financial
resources to the Group to meet and achieve our business
objectives and strategies which will further strengthen the Group's

market position in Hong Kong.

X¥BERE

AEBMA—MBEBIIZEMAR  FINERR
MEREE - ARFEEETRIES XHEM
HoORENEIAIR (FEREERRERIRE
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RAFEE AEBHGEENI4BEBT M
2T+t +-_A=+—HILFE  A£EH
BSHEMOI72BEEB T -EFRE ZEEBE
EHARAFEMEEANFELBE LMHAIED
178BEBIL - HIBr EMHAZE  REBRAKF
ERaMNBHA164EEBTT -

Az
|

RU =
AEB-BEZNRSBRMAXRTHEERE LB
B AREREGRSREEUBEBRRMNETS
EREMSHELAEEZEL  WEERE T
RREME-

In

i

=~

B BREMSRRFESAANEEREMKER
Ume R BRRMWER B IR MR - HEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWED

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue increased to approximately HK$88.4 million for the
Year by approximately HK$2.2 million or 2.6%, from approximately
HK$86.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. This was

principally due to an increase in projects awarded during the Year.

Cost of services

Our cost of services decreased to approximately HK$50.4 million
for the Year by approximately HK$0.4 million or 0.8%, from
approximately HK$50.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. The slight decrease in costs was due to the decrease in the

amount of work outsourced to subconsultants.

Gross profit

Our gross profit increased to approximately HK$38.0 million for the
Year by approximately HK$2.6 million or 7.3%, from approximately
HK$35.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The
increase was due to the decrease in the amount of work outsourced

to subconsultants.

Other income, gains and losses

Other income and gain increased by approximately HK$0.1 million
from approximately HK$0.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2017 to approximately HK$0.6 million for the Year. The increase was

mainly due to the increase in bank interest income.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses increased to approximately HK$37.0
million for the Year, by approximately HK$21.7 million or 141.8%,
from approximately HK15.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2017. The increase was mainly due to non-recurring Listing
Expenses of approximately HK$17.8 million (2017: nil) incurred for
the Year.

Listing expenses

During the Year, the Group recognised non-recurring Listing
Expenses on an accrual basis of approximately HK$17.8 million
(2017: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EEEIwmE

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the following will be taken into account, inter alia:
(i)  the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v) the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Articles”) of
the Company. The dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance that

a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

DIVIDEND

After taking into account the dividend policy of the Company
summarized above, the Board does not recommend the payment
of final dividend for the Year (2017: Interim dividends amounted to
HK$13,353,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWEE DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed our operations primarily through cash

generated from our operating activities.

Cash and bank balances
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$75.3 million (2017: HK$8.4 million).

Net current assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current assets of
HK$109.5 million (2017: HK$21.3 million).

Total equity

The equity of the Group mainly comprises share capital, share
premium and reserves. The Group's total equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to HK$110.8 million (2017:
HK$22.5 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group

since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit
risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of
the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2017: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2018, including our Directors, the Group had a
total of 278 employees (2017: 275).

We recognise employees as valuable assets and our success is
underpinned by our people. In line with our human resource
policies, we are committed to providing attractive remuneration
packages, and a fair and harmonious working environment to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of our employees.
The Group regularly reviews our human resource policies which
outline the Group’'s compensation, working hours, rest periods
and other benefits and welfare, to ensure compliance with laws
and regulations. We always place emphasis on attracting qualified
applicants by offering competitive remuneration packages. These
packages are reviewed based on employees’ performance and
reference to prevailing market conditions, and are adjusted in a

timely manner to keep them in line with market benchmarking.

In addition, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option
scheme, (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 20 August 2018 so as to

motivate, attract and retain the right employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Except on disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
investments during the Year and did not have any material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiary, associates or joint ventures

during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital management

Our Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity

balance.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure from
time to time. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of

capital.

Gearing ratio
Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including payables
incurred not in our ordinary course of business) divided by the total

equity as at the respective reporting dates.

As at 31 December 2018 the Group's gearing ratio was nil (2017:

nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEREWED T

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND T EREAEREKEEHERE
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH BEE LB

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

Up to 31 December 2018, we utilised the net proceeds raised HZ—_Z—/\F+_A=+—80  HMBRELRX
from the Listing in accordance with the designated uses set out AR ZZFE—N\FNAZ TN BFIENBRER
in the prospectus issued by the Company on 29 August 2018 (the ([HBRER|) FEETREMBAN ETMELER
"Prospectus”) as follows: FRSRIEFEMT -

Planned use of Actual use of
proceeds from  proceeds from
Planned use of  Listing Dateto  Listing Date to

Description proceeds 31/12/2018 31/12/2018 % utilised
twREE tHR#E
—E-N\% —E-N\§

tZA=t+-B +ZA=t-H
FRMET  WASREN  HFAEREN

i ik SEAR BRAR EBA%
HK$M HK$M HK$M
BEAT BEBT BEAT

Setting up a new team specialising in the field of RV EFEFEREHNHEN

building development 321 09 1.0 111%
Strengthening our in-house team of professional £ A Z %8 TEMIMRF

staff to increase our service capacity ARG 8 ) 68 04 05 125%
Leasing additional office space to accommodate EEINEAEARER

our expansion 32 0.2 - N/A TNER
Upgrading our information technology system to A EFRHR 24 MR R L&A 400

enhance our engineering design capability 29 04 02 50%
Acquisition of additional motor vehicles to BERMTENEEEREX

accommodate our transportation needs 26 - - N/A i
Increasing our marketing effort MATHEHNE 2.5 0.2 02 100%
General working capital —HEEER 49 10 10 100%
Total Rl 5.0 31 29 94%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWEE DT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND T EREAEREKEEHERE
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH BEEZLE &)

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS (continued)

The following table sets forth the business objectives shown in the  TEREHJIBREERMREKERHAREEEE -
Prospectus as compared to the Group’s actual business progress Z— /\F+-A=Z+—HWOEBREBEE 2L

up to 31 December 2018:

Business objectives Implementation Plan Actual business progress
XBEE B e st & BEREREE
Setting up a new team e Recruit one Registered Structural e The Group has hired one
specialising in the field of Engineer to review structural plans Registered Geotechnical Engineer
building development of buildings, performing structural o AREBEDHE—RFMa T2
BUEITEFERAT inspection and handling statutory fi
B 5 8 B submission to Government
authority; e The Group has hired one senior

o WME-REMAER IR AR
ABTHEEBRE  ETEER
& R R B IR SORTE X AT

e  Recruit three building engineers
to prepare designs of building
structures; and

e HE=FEFIIEM LEHE
FEBRT R

e Recruit an administrative staff to
handle the administrative affairs in
relation to the establishment and
operation of the new team.

e HE—FITHRAE UEEEH
B RS EF B ITHREER ©
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project manager, four senior
building engineers, one architect
and four draftsmen specialising in
building development

s AEKEEREBEFIZFEERMN—
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TH26D - — AR EEAD & 0% SLE
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e The Group has hired one

administrative staff

s AEEEWRE-—RITHAER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH

gl

ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS (continued)

Business objectives

EX¥ER

Implementation Plan

Bt &

IHABREAERREEERERERSE
BEEZLR#)

Actual business progress

Strengthening our in-house team
of professional staff to increase
our service capacity

HERAREXE THK
ATR T 3 API 6 BR 75 BE

Leasing additional office space to

accommodate our expansion
HEREIMNIRERNER

Recruit a project engineer for
assisting the project manager in
the implementation of projects and
managing daily communication
with clients;

BIE—ZIEE TI2AHBHIE B &
BHTEHARERETFPHAE
B

Recruit a draftsman for preparing
technical drawings and schedule;
and

e — 2 2B E & & RERIE
MNEE R

Recruit a marketing staff for the
coordination of our marketing
activities and promotion of our
services.

BE-— 2T EIEERETS
R B MR T H P80 RS -

Identify and lease office

premises with gross floor area of
approximately 1,700 square feet
for accommodating our expansion.
WeRREREmMEL1,700 ¥ 77
RV REDE - AR I
R -

e The Group has hired one project
engineer, one engineer and four
assistant engineers

s AKEERE—REETEAM-
—% TR2AM e U4 BhIE T A2 A

e  The Group has hired one
draftsman for preparing technical
drawings and schedule

s AEECHE-RHUEMAREH
Bl 8 4 Ko 51 &

e The Group has leased an office
premises with gross floor area of
approximately 380 square feet for
accommodating our expansion;
the lease was effective on
1 January 2019

e AEECHEREmMEL380F
FTREOMAEYE - AR HF
WiRESR  ZEHER T —NF—
A—HBA&X
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING AND
COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS (continued)

Business objectives Implementation Plan

IHABREAERREEERERERSE
BEEZLR#)

Actual business progress

ES R Bitst & BEREBER
Upgrading our information e  Purchase new computers e The Group has acquired 16 sets

technology system to enhance equipped with appropriate

of computers for new and existing

our engineering design software and tools for our staff
capability additional staff; and s AEECERVMERBRBEEIRE
THRE ARH R AT IALR e RHMEEIBENEM Wi 16 EEME
= T2 RFTRES HEBHRIA: &
e Upgrade computers and software
for existing staff.
o REFEIAREBHEEMF -
Increasing our marketing effort e Strengthen our marketing e The Group has engaged a public
MRS EHENE activities. relations company

o IMBEMMTIHEHEE -

The net proceeds from the Listing, after deducting related
expenses, were approximately HK$55.2 million. After the Listing,
a part of these proceeds has been applied in accordance with the
future plans and use of proceeds as set out in the Prospectus. The
business objectives, future plans and planned use of proceeds as
stated in the Prospectus were based on the best estimation and
assumption of future market conditions made by the Group at the
time of preparing the Prospectus while the proceeds were applied
based on the actual development of the Group's business and the

industry.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

The Group had no significant events from the end of the Year to

the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

INTRODUCTION

Throughout our years of operation and development, we
have adhered to our business philosophy of Corporate Social
Responsibility (“CSR"). This report is prepared with reference to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide") under Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("HKEX"). Since its establishment,
the Group has striven to provide engineering consultancy services
ethically and professionally. To foster sustainability, the Group also
encourages environmental protection, makes positive contributions
and creates long-term value in the community. During the reporting
period, the Group committed itself to improving standards of CSR,
and complied strictly with the requirements of laws and regulations
on ESG reporting.

Unless otherwise specified, this report covers our ESG progress and
performance from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018, focusing
on the core business of the Group, the provision of engineering
consultancy services.

The Group is an engineering consultant based in Hong Kong with
a focus on the field of infrastructure development. To meet the
increasingly demanding requirements of engineering consultancy
services in the various kinds of infrastructure development,
the Group has accumulated expertise in different branches of
engineering, notably road and structural engineering, geotechnical
engineering and traffic engineering.

Ethics
FELRS

Moving Forward

BRIREK

Community Involvement
fad=E N

Operating Practices
EEED

HE
ERMZFEERERT BRI TEEM
SEME(CSRDEERED - AMEH2EFEH
ERGABRAR ([EBBRXA]) GEME & L
MARRM R = T AEANIRE e REARER
5l (TESGE| &SI )) MRS - BRILLAK - K&
B-ENKRERAEXAELE  RHIEE
FARTS - MBEKAIFKHERRE  AEBETEERR
T8 ITRtRELERERNMAERREE-
RBEHRE  AEERINIESEELEEEDN
BRE BRETEHERE HENELIWMEER
FORIBIRTE -

BBEHBEN  ABETBRPREREG L
DR RHETIZEMRE) - AREERME =
2 N\F-A-BE-F-\F+-A=+—H
HEREE  HEREAFENERRRE -

AEERBEANRBAVETERREERBHAN
THEEM - ARESBERSEERE TEEM
REARERANFR  AEERTRIEERR
BHEENG  FZRERERERIR 51
TERRBIIE-

Environment
B

Employment & Labour

Practices

ERELETER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERERE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT FhhESH

Identifying and understanding stakeholders is indispensable to A RBEBFRHEL A FERRM S T o
sustainable development. Continuous communication with our  ERF N ERFBEBEHHRMIEL NG RT - WHE
stakeholders enables us to make informed decisions and accurately ~ FEHIFT(HEBARMELEFE - TRIIBHAEE
assess the potential impact of our business decisions. The table 89357 & LA ML alt T P16 /8 18 K [0] FE ¥ e o
below lists the Group's stakeholders, and outlines our efforts in

communication and response.

Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication

B E4A R A0 E BERE

Investors e Shareholders e Corporate website

REH o BRRE o REHHU
e Potential investors e Annual and interim financial reports
o BHEKREE o FERPHMBRE

e Quarterly reports and announcement
o FEHRENAM

e Annual general meetings

o RREBFXRE

e Disclosure of listed information

. BELTAN

Employees e Senior management e Direct communication
(== s SMERE o HERR
o Staff e Training and seminars
e BT o HIIRMEE
e Potential recruits e Face-to-face meetings
o BHEMESR o EHMEEH

¢ Independent focus groups and
interviews

o BUBE/NAEKREHA

e CSR and volunteering activities

o HEMEEENREMELD
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued) K ESRE
Stakeholder Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication
FmEAR EREOE BBERE
Customers e Government authority e Customer assessment
5P o KT o EPHMA

o Highways Department e Periodical progress meeting

o BRHKFE o THEERSGE

o Transport Department

o EBEHZE

o Civil Engineering and Development

Department

o TARIBHESE

o Water Supplies Department

o KiKE

o Drainage Services Department

o REBE

Suppliers
e

Government and Regulators

BT K B E

e Construction contractor

o EEAHER

e Property developer

o METRE

e Public transportation corporation
o RHBHAF

e Architectural firm

o BEFHAH

e Sub-contractors e Sub-contractor assessment
e HEME o DA

e Daily work review

o HBRIRR

e Site inspection

o MARRRES

® Meeting with sub-contractors
s BRNBEHE

® Local governments e Written correspondence

o ABBAT . BEEA

e Regulators e Statutory reports and general
o ELEKAE disclosure

o EEMEN—MRIE

Annual Report ¢ 2018
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

To ensure that this report addresses the issues that are critical to
the Group and significant to our stakeholders, we have conducted a
materiality assessment on the Group’s CSR agenda. This will help us
identify areas for improvement in our CSR work, and enable more
comprehensive, transparent and specific responses, enhancing the

quality of the annual report.

ETHICS

As one of the leading engineering consultants in Hong Kong, we
believe that a high standard of ethics and corporate governance
plays an essential role in the sustainable development of our
business. Our compliance manual sets out standards in a range
of ethical issues that we always require our employees to meet,
including anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-discrimination, privacy

protection and data protection.

Additionally, a whistleblowing policy has been established,
encouraging employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about
misconduct, malpractice or irregularities in any matters related
to the Group. This can help maintain a high standard of integrity,

openness, probity and accountability within the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions

"Global Warming”, "Extreme Weather” and "“Rising Sea-Levels”
have become matters of growing concern in the world. To protect
the environment, the Group strives to take action to combat climate
change, by minimising air and greenhouse gas emissions, and non-

hazardous waste generation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued) RIBERE#E)
Emissions (continued) BEm Y (&)
Green Design FERE

Although the environmental emissions impact of the Group is EEAEBEHIRIBERNBEMEZEE /)N IRIEH
insignificant, the Group is still committed to take effective measures — FRABEEE 2 KIER - AN B I HEE MIE i
for environmental protection and the sustainable development of ~LAfREIRIBRER T ENAFELERE -

society, based on the relevant emission laws and regulations.

Air emissions from vehicles K G By g B
Unit FY2018
By —E-N\BEFE
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) RELH (NOy) gram 7%, 1,135.22
Sulphur Oxides (SOy) AL (SOy) gram %, 15.42
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) AR A B8R T (PM) gram 52 83.58
Greenhouse gas emissions R 2 RS HER
Unit FY2018
B —E-N\BE
Direct emissions (Scope 1): BEER(EE)
— GHG emissions from mobile —REBEHERN CO, Z&1{bix  tonne ME 2.48
combustion sources BEREEEEW CH, Pt tonne M 0.01
N, O —& /b =& tonne W 0.36
Indirect emissions (Scope 2): R (8E2) :
— Electricity purchased from CLP —BFEBEEMNET CO, Z&1tlit  tonne WA 88.95
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3): Hab g (E8E3) ¢
— Paper waste disposals —REAR B IR CO, Z&1tlit  tonne WA 306.92
— Electricity used for processing —BUNEBPIRIEK KR CO, Z&{tit  tonne lf 0.77
fresh water and sewage by EIKFTREE

government department
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Emissions (continued)

Green Design (continued)

One of our major sources of emissions is carbon emissions from the
consumption of unleaded petrol, electricity and paper. Throughout
the year, we used Shell FuelSave unleaded petrol for all motor
vehicles. This promotes energy efficiency, helping to clean up
injector deposits in engines and providing better fuel economy
and, when needed, more load-pulling power. According to testing
results from Shell, deposit-related power loss is less, and the fuel
injector is cleaner when this type of petrol is used. Therefore, using
Shell FuelSave unleaded petrol continuously not only helps reduce
operating costs, but also protects the environment through lower

fuel usage.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did not receive
any notice of non-compliance in relation to any pollution ordinance
or regulations, such as the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
311) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354).

Reducing Waste and Promoting Recycling

Due to the nature of our business, no significant hazardous waste
was generated in the year ended 31 December 2018. From our
daily operations as an engineering consultant, paper waste was
inevitable; we accumulated 63.94 tonnes during the year. Although
paper waste does not directly produce any hazardous substance, it
can generate CO; indirectly when disposed of, resulting in adverse
impact on the environment (global warming). In order to promote
environmental sustainability, we encourage our staff to use duplex
printing as default mode on all printers. In addition, we also place
a box next to all printers for collecting recycling paper, to reduce

unnecessary paper waste.

Use of Resources

To ensure an environment-friendly working environment, we have
familiarised our staff with green policy to raise their awareness
of environmental protection, and established energy-efficient
practices to fully utilise resources and reduce energy consumption

in our head office.

28  Annual Report ¢ 2018

RIBERE®)

BEm (&)

RERE (E)

BT EHRc —RBEEER AR B IR
MREEOBBER - £ - RPN TEHEAR
212l B 75 (Shell FuelSave) £ 85 )98 < ItE A B A
RFRERME Fo| R EHRNEWN SR
ERFENRBESERER  WEXEREHREX
WAEHES N - REREOARER  EHLE
FURMTDR A MEYER NI RIER - B REE
JMERRERE At - FHE AR RETT (Shell
FuelSave) &1 )7l ™ME B B PR EAL LA » T
ARBREMRE A ELUERIRRE M -

BHE_Z-N\F+_A=+—Hik XEELE
EKEEMA S RGHFER (MERFRE
B (F3NET) REMEEGH (F354F))M 1
BREA -

B2 B8 S ) I fiE 2 120 W I A
ERBMANEBEE BE-FT—-N\F+_-A
St HLEFEIEELRERETRREY - 1ER
TiEREER  HPERBLEER T ARRMEES
FEA FANRBIECCUMME -BEFERTBEEE
EREEVE BREEASERESLE — AL -
TeMmERBEKR TN T E (FINZIRERE) - B
BRFAFEE  RMAZEE TEMREREITEH
WHAETERORBERETRE - 15N 3
PITREFT BTN E ME RS - BRI KA
& ARDTBEBHHFRE -

BIRE A

REERROTERE  HMIABTEERRK
R BREIRRER - RN EEEEEEAT D
MAERAB D B R BIHBERE o



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Saving

We have instructed our staff to switch off lights, air-conditioners
and all other electronic devices when they leave the office or when
these are not in use. At the same time, we have also encouraged
our staff to set indoor air-conditioning temperatures to an

environment-friendly level, of around 25T

RERE @)

BERER (&)

B gE

ﬁfFﬁK*E\IE%’EEﬂﬁJ#”*‘RTEﬁH 5/~ =
KA EMEFRERGELRMN - BIELRE - &
PITEBE THEANEFRERELE2SCEAN
RIRKF o

Electricity consumption during the year FEXNFEIGH
Unit FY2018
B —ZE-)\BF
Total electricity consumption BEHE= kWh F ELBF 141,190
Electricity usage intensity (kWh/Staff) RAE%E (TREBI) kWh F EL B 1,284
Electricity usage intensity (kWh/Staff/Day) AEEE(TRRE BT X) kWh TEK 35
Water Management AKER

In our business, we only provide engineering consultancy services

to the government and contractors, and this does not involve any

ERNEBREY  HMERBTREAZERMH IR
BRERY  @red RMEAKERBRE - FF1E

water resource consumption. Water is only used in our head office, ~ 7E#8A &) KR LB ER -
for toilet flushing.
Water consumption during the year FERAFNKIER
Unit FY2018
By —E-N\BEF
Total water consumption* HEHKE m3 37 75 K 868
Water consumption intensity (kWh/Staff) FK#ZE (:FEE%/EI) m3 37 75 K 8
Water consumption intensity (kWh/Staff/Day) BXEZEE(FRKE BT /X)) muikK 0.02
* Water consumption from our office in Winning Commercial Building is based * BPREBEEAENNASHEKE NERAS TS

on the latest available data, which covered only the first 3 months from 1
January 2018 to 13 March 2018. Therefore, the total consumption for the year is
proportionate, calculated based on average daily consumption data shown on

the bill from the Water Supplies Department in March 2018.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Environmental and natural resources are essential for the world’s
sustainable development. Although the daily business of the Group
may not have seriously adverse effects on the environment, the
Group also provides practical tips and guidelines to employees to

minimise environmental impact.

MEE ZEIEERZ2018F1A1HZE201843A13
BEAI3MEA - At 2FNAAKEDNREKBEBERN
2018F3AFEMEE FRANTHE B AKEEIEL
BIstE -

RERRXRER
REMAREREERNAIHEEREPES -
BEARENEEXRBAETEHRBENEE
THEE BAKENRREEREERRTRE
5 UBRERIVEHRENTE -
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES

Employment

Because of our reliance on in-house engineers, employees are
one of the most valuable assets of the Group. To attract more
talent and retain existing employees, we take a comprehensive
approach in recruitment, employment and promotion, with
attractive remuneration packages and benefits for our employees.
We advocate a community spirit that thrives on mutual respect and
equality, through compliance with equal opportunities legislation,
such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Race Discrimination
Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance and Family Status

Discrimination Ordinance.

To ensure diversity and equality, we have set up a recruitment
policy for selecting suitable talent. Our recruitment process is non-
discriminatory, and is based solely on employees’ performance,
experience and skills. In addition to a fair recruitment process, we
also encourage our junior staff to follow the senior staff to engage
with public consultations to gain more practical experience, which
could be beneficial to their career development and improve
the Group's competitive advantage. Appraisals are performed
annually for employees, with appropriate salary adjustments
and promotions. The Group complies strictly with all laws and
regulations relevant to the Ordinances mentioned above, and does

not engage in any forced or child labour.

Furthermore, we have an internship policy that attracts new talent
to join us when they graduate, by referral from either employees or
universities. In particular, not only the Year 3 university students are
welcomed to join our internship programme; we also encourage
Year 1 or Year 2 students to join us, so that we can provide them
with an opportunity to get into the industry and join society earlier.
The internship programme offers the students full-time training
during their summer vacation, helping them obtain as much
valuable work experience as possible, and gain a great sense of

achievement as well.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Employment (continued)

During the year, the number of interns was, by gender, 23 (male)
and 4 (female), with internships averaging 2 months in duration.
According to intern feedback, they enjoyed their time in our
Group. The programme gave them engineering experience before
graduation, and increased their confidence about committing

themselves to the engineering industry in future.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group did not receive
any notice of non-compliance in relation to employment, labour

laws and regulations.

Staff Composition
As at 31 December 2018, we employed a total of 110 staff (exclude
the resident site staff), all in Hong Kong. Due to the nature of our

business, males make up a very high proportion within the Group.

By Gender
RIERIE D
15%

g
Male
EE/H_:
85% 7!
By Age Group
LEWRARNE D
>60 — - 10

sieo- J s

41-50 —

31-40 —

21-30 —
<20- 0
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ERERREIER#)

(3 HC=))
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued) EBERSIERZ)
Employment (continued) 3162,
Staff Turnover BIRK

The Group had a turnover rate of 17% during the year, totalling RER  REBMNBELRAEB17%  Hit224%
22 permanent employees (excluding the resident site staff and KHEE (TEEFHMBEABREEE) - FR -
the summer interns). The turnover rate by gender was relatively %M RIE DM E TR AXKE\H FE 55405
balanced in the year, at around 17% (male) and 16% (female)  17% (5 1h) & 16% (&%) < L1475 - FHE 487 &
respectively. Details of turnover by gender, age group and @B DHE TRKEREALT -

geographical region are summarised as follows:

bguiE b
By Gender
Turnover Rate &
k2R 19
Male EE)E3 17%
Female 7 16% 3
By Geographical Region == £ 5
Turnover Rate
WKk =E
Hong Kong &G 17%
Others HAtb 0%
By Age Group I F A & 5
Turnover Rate >60 - 0
AR E
51-60 - 0
< 20 years old 05T o% 41-50- W 2
21 - 30 years old 21 -303% 22% 3140 - - 4
3140 years old 31 -403% 18%
41 - 50 years old 41-50%% 10%  21-30- B B
51— 60 years old 51 - 605% 0% <20- 0
> 60 years old 607 A £ 0%
0 5 10 15 20
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Employment (continued)

Staff Welfare

We strictly follow labour legislation and provide a comprehensive
leave package to employees, covering sickness, casual, marriage,
funeral, maternity, annual and injury leave, as well as statutory
holidays. Working overtime is not advocated in our Group, but
if it is necessary, employees are provided with an overtime meal

allowance. We also provide a company trip for all staff annually.

In October 2018, we organised a 4-day trip to Tokyo, Japan,
inviting all our staff and their families. Other than the company trip,
the Group also hosts a Christmas party for staff. Welfare provisions
cover all employees, enrich the variety of corporate cultural

activities, and increase the sense of belonging among employees.

On top of the basic social insurance program, the Group also

provides the following benefits,
Group medical coverage (extends to an employee’s spouse)
Education allowances for work-related training
Allowances for job-related membership registration

For example, The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers (the
"HKIE"), Institution of Civil Engineers (the "ICE"), The
Institution of Structural Engineers (the “IStructE"”) and The
Association of Consulting Engineers of Hong Kong (the
“ACEHK")

Health and Safety

Health and safety are integral to our Group. We always emphasise
that safety is our top priority. To ensure that all employees are
aware of occupational health and safety issues, we encourage them
to participate in job-related safety training courses provided by the

HKIE, on an employer-reimbursement basis.

During the year, the Group did not receive any notice of non-
compliance in relation to health and safety legislation and
regulations, and there were zero cases of either work injury or job-
related fatality.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Development and Training

Regarding the nature of our business, human capital is treated
as one of the most vital elements for the Group’s long-term
development. We believe we can retain talented individuals by
providing training to employees, so they develop their careers with
us. During the reporting period, we launched a variety of training
programs for our staff, assisting them to get the latest news and

knowledge about their profession.

Our in-house training covers a wide range of subjects, including
safety and different kinds of engineering field (e.g. structures,
waterworks, roadworks, site formation, traffic and geotechnical
work). During the reporting period, we offered 7 courses related
to different engineering knowledge for all levels of staff. We also
offered training on how to use the Midas Civil system, an integrated
solution system for bridge and civil engineering, helping engineers
to produce high-quality designs with unprecedented levels of

efficiency and accuracy.

In addition to in-house training, we encourage our staff to join job-
related training provided by external associations: for example,
the safety training courses and geotechnical workshop provided
by HKIE during the year. In particular, we supported one employee
joining a 7-day delegation trip representing Institution of Civil
Engineers Hong Kong Association Graduates and Students
Division, visiting different companies and construction sites in
Sydney. The employee was satisfied with this trip to Sydney,
because it gave him substantial knowledge and taught him new

technology in civil engineering.

During the year, the percentages of permanent employees
participating in training were, by gender, 42% (male) and 32%
(female), with average training duration at approximately 7.7
hours and 3.2 hours respectively. The percentages of employees
participating in training for senior-, middle- and entry-level staff
were 14%, 16% and 73% respectively. The Group values employees’
self-development. To ensure equality of training opportunity, we
offered different training courses for different levels of staff. The
average durations of training activities for each of these employee

categories were 5.5, 6.4 and 7.4 hours respectively.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

Sub-contractors are indispensable to our business and operations,
contributing significantly to our success in the pursuit of quality
excellence and crucial in enhancing our brand reputation. We
strictly monitor our sub-contractors’ performance through
occasional meetings, and the daily deliverables received from site

offices can also help us to assess their work performance.

Due to the nature of our business, most of our sub-contractors were
from Hong Kong, while only 2 of them were from Europe, both
from the United Kingdom.
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Product Responsibility

Service quality is a key factor in our business operations and
reputation. A complaint-handling policy has been set up as a
guideline for dealing with complaints. A hotline number is posted
on the Group's website for public consultation regarding the
services we provide and the projects we are carrying out. We keep
an open mind in dealing with all complaints, whether or not they
are justified. The Group has obtained ISO9001:2015 certification
from The Hong Kong Certification Body Accreditation Scheme
(HKCAS) in Hong Kong, in recognition of providing a high standard

of quality management in the provision of consultancy services.

.Europe

B

Hong Kong
BB

EmEME

RHBEERRMXBELRBENER - RME

il AT % 3 B 38 IR
AEBE MM LI
PR A AR K IR

BB B R
MERREH - HAT
AT 0B B RE R -

53l e
LI

T

FAEEAE  BRAOFRAREEREMEIRF -
AEECRELRETERATHBRATIAEL

EIEHSRENE

i

ISO9001 : 201553 %

=

EEE-

Annual Report ¢ 2018

» AR AT A 1R (R ] AR 75 75

35




Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RR - HERERRE

OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)
Additionally, a declaration of confidentiality is signed and attached

with the contract to ensure consumer data and privacy protection.

In sum, the Group did not receive any complaint during the
year, and there were no cases of non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group in terms of

the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance.

FUGRO CERTIFICATION SERVICES LIMITED

Certificate No. - Q0019

-

SEES (@)

EmEE#E)

BEAN - EUEBENE DT TN ACRENRT R
B URERREEEENBIRLENL -

BE 2 NREERFALEEEEMRE  TE

EAERERERNERGAREBRAIEAE
(L) 1R | EBEAFENHER -

"iu:nu

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that

Mannings (Asia) Consultants Ltd.

at

5/F, Winning Commercial Buiding, 46 - 48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tui, Kowloon, -ong Kong

has been found to conform to the Qualty Men

1SO 9001:2015

ient System Standerd:

Anti-corruption

To maintain a high standard of integrity, openness, probity and
accountability, we comply strictly with the anti-corruption policy.
Conflicts of interest, privacy and confidentiality of information
and prevention of bribery are all covered in our Internal Control
Manual and Compliance Manual. A whistleblowing policy has also
been applied to all employees and related third parties who deal
with the Group, under which they report any misconduct, fraud
or irregularities. All employees at senior management level are
required to sign declarations of confidentiality and of conflict of
interest, to affirm the integrity and best interests of the Group. As
at 31 December 2018, there were no legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or the employees, such as the

Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Not only do we focus on business matters, we also do our best
to become a socially responsible corporate citizen, through deep
involvement in the community, giving back to society and creating

shared benefits for the communities we serve.

Donations

During the year, the Group donated a total of HK$312,000 to
community causes, with HK$260,000 going to vulnerable groups
including the elderly, orphans, patients and low-income earners.
Around 90% of the total donations went to the “Apple Daily
Charitable Foundation,” which aims to improve the life quality of

vulnerable groups and let them feel love, hope and care around

them.
Charitable Donations in 2018
2018 FZER/N
6% 3% 7%
48%
22%
Sponsorship

In addition to our involvement in donation activities, we sponsored
several events in the elderly care, cultural promotion and social
harmony fields. In particular, we sponsored the Construction
Industry Sports & Volunteering Programme and encouraged
employees to participate in the event held on 21st October 2018.
The sports event was organised by the Construction Charity Fund,
and was intended to support families of workers injured or killed in
industrial accidents. We hope we can help relieve their economic

difficulties throughout our sponsorship.

10%

HtES2H

B TEFIEBERE - TE
SRENGE RAZEHE HELS -
BFRBMLRAERZ M

RAB N B E
I £

=]

RER NEEMLESEES LB 5K312,000%
JT - B AR 260,000 8 TR S T IS RERE PR RE -
MR~ mARBEBAATL - BIERLH0%BHE T
[BERAGREEES] ZEACENERSHEH
BOEFEE TERSRIINFENE FE
&E@Lx

.Rel|g|on

REAEAD
Education
HE

Elderly caring
RERE

.Orphan caring
e R R

Low-income earner

EWAAN LR

Health
fiR R

. Culture

XAe

=40

BR2EBEEEIN  BRMTREERE  EE
%&ié%ﬂﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ%@otﬁ%vﬁﬁ
BHREXEYRETE  UHEEESLHE
mams&40H21Eﬁ%ﬂﬁ¥ EE) o 258
PhEEXEREcHEMEN  EEEYX
ATEEMMEROTALERE - &%71% -
LHRMNEBREMAT EH BN E -

B&E
Bk
A9

Annual Report ¢ 2018 37




Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RR - HERERRE

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

Awards and Commendations

In September 2018, Super Typhoon “Mangkhut” tore across Hong
Kong. After our active participation in the recovery work, the Group
received several plaudits from both the Civil Engineering and
Development Department (the “CEDD”) and rural committees for

our contribution to the community.
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In appreciation of
participation in the recovery work after

Super Typhoon Mangkhut in Scptember 2018
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Mannings (Asia) Consultants Limited i ‘
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Dircctor of Civil Engine gandl) -velopment
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11 October 2018

MOVING FORWARD

To explore opportunities in the Greater China Region, the Group
participated in “Opportunities in the Greater Bay Area Conference
from Transportation Development” and attended a half-day
seminar organized in 2018 by The Chartered Institution of Highways
& Transportation (the “CIHT") Hong Kong Region, to get the latest
information about business potential and strategies for the Big Bay

Area.

With green design still a hot topic, we will continue our
commitment to environmental protection, and control of emissions,
energy consumption and paper waste during our daily operations,
to pave the way for sustainable development. To reach a higher
standard of CSR, we will continue to make positive contributions

and create long-term value for the community.
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY REAME
Environmental Performance RIBRE
Emissions Data from Vehicles: xEHEHRI LR -
Unit 2018
By 2018
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) =R gram 7 1,135.22
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) malyw gram 7% 15.42
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) SBFRL gram 7%, 83.58
GHG Direct Emissions (Scope 1): BEREEE (FET) -
Unit 2018
By 2018
Emissions from stationary combustion sources 2R B &l JE )R 8 5E AR CO; tonne A 0
CH,4 tonne M 0
N,O tonne MA 0
Emissions from mobile combustion sources KB BRABER CO, tonne M 2.48
CH, tonne MA 0.01
N,O tonne W& 0.36
GHG Indlirect Emissions: m 25 R BT BERL -
Unit 2018
By 2018 &
Scope 2 #[E2
— Electricity purchased from CLP —AHREEENES CO; tonne 88.95
Scope 3 #E3
— Paper waste disposals —REAR B IR CO; tonne A 306.92
— Electricity used for processing fresh — I AR P BR R K K PR A CO; tonne MA 0.50
water by governance department )
— Electricity used for sewage by — BT BB P B ER 5 /K BT AR CO;, tonne M& 0.27
government department E5s)
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued) REAME#)
Environmental Performance (continued) RIEBRE (&)
Waste Disposals: EEYEE -
Unit 2018
By 2018
Hazardous waste disposal EEBENRE tonne M 0
Non-hazardous waste disposal BMEEEVRE
— Paper waste —REAK tonne M3 63.94
* The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best ~ * L2 ERNNFTEDERKMEZE2018F12A31H
approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2018. SO RENE R BIE -
Energy Consumption: BEJR A FE -
Unit 2018
By 2018 4
Electricity used for the year FANEES kWh F EL B 141,190
Per employee BHESR kWh T F B 1,284
Per employee and per day BHEESH kWh T EL B 35
Water Consumption: FEKE -
Unit 2018
B 2018
Water used for the year FRNFEKE m® 37 75K 868
Per employee BaEER m3 37 75 K 8
Per employee and per day BREESH m?3 37 75 K 0.02

*

The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best ~ * P EEMOFTEDERKMEE2018F12A31H
approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2018. AR RELBELEIE -
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

REABE#)
HEBEERR-ERER

As at
31 December
2018
Total Workforce BEAK Unit MH2018 5
(exclude the resident site staff) (TEERBEAE) B 12A31H
By employment type REBERE S
Full-time il no. of people A 109
Part-time B no. of people A&l 1
By gender R RIE 2
Male S no. of people Ak 94
Female 4 no. of people A&l 16
By age group RERARE S
< 20 years old 20BRA T no. of people A% 0
21 -30years old 21-30%% no. of people AL 58
31 -40years old 31-40%% no. of people AL 18
41 - 50 years old 41 -50%% no. of people AL 19
51 - 60 years old 51 -60%% no. of people AL 5
> 60 years old 60BRIA no. of people AL 10
By geographical region R EE D
Hong Kong B no. of people A £t 110
Others HAh no. of people A 0
By employee category REBERE D
Senior Level =R no. of people A 26
Middle Level R no. of people AL 36
Entry Level IE no. of people A 48
Contract/Short-term staff AR/ =T no. of people AL 0
Unit 2018
Occupational Health and Safety BERREZD By 2018 %
Work-related Fatalities ET/EARNET
Number of cases ESLS 4= no. of people A £k 0
Fatality rate T % AN 0%
Work Injury I15
Number of lost days BARIEAH no. of days A & 0
Number of reported accidents HEFWAHE no. of cases Z &K 0
Injury rate TiE=x % B DLt 0%
* The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best ~ * P2 ERNFTEDERKMEZE2018F12A31H

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2018.

AR RENRREE -
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

(continued))

Employee Turnover

REABE#)
HE

BEERE-RBRERER &)

(exclude the resident site staff EBERX Unit 2018
and the summer interns) (TEEEHBAERETE) B 2018 &
By gender R RE D

Male B % Bt 17%
Female 7 % AN 16%
By age group RERARE S

< 20 years old 208 AT % B DL 0%
21-30years old 21-307% % B DLt 22%
31-40 years old 31 -407% % B DLt 18%
41 - 50 years old 41 -507% % B DLt 10%
51 - 60 years old 51 - 607% % B DLt 0%
> 60 years old 60BR LA | % B 0%
By geographical region Zith & &l 2

Hong Kong BB % B 17%
Others EHAh % BN 0%
Percentage of Permanent Unit 2018
Employees Trained TllzRBEEE DL By 2018 F
By gender RIER 82

Male S % BoL 42%
Female e % AN 32%
By employee category REEBERES

Senior Level =i % BN 14%
Middle Level R % ALt 16%
Entry Level SR % ALt 73%
Contract/Short-term staff AR/ EET % BN 0%
Average Training Hours per Unit 2018
Permanent Employee BERPEENFHEIEE By 2018 F
By gender RIER 82

Male S hours /)N 7.7
Female % hours /)N 3.2
By employee category RESERE S

Senior Level =% hours /N 55
Middle Level R hours /)N 6.4
Entry Level SRS hours /)N 7.4
Contract/Short-term staff AR/ EHT hours /)N 0
* The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best * Lt ERNAE AR PIEHZE2018612 8318

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2018.
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R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX

This report is prepared in accordance with the "Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix 20 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The following tables provide an overview
of the general disclosures and key performance indicators (“KPIs")
of various aspects under each subject area, which are either cross-
referenced to the relevant chapters of the Report or supplement

the Report with additional information.

RiR - HEREBRABRES

ABEDRB(REMARSMERAAE S L
T #5% RI) B 8% 20 19 GR3% %i@&ﬁ/éi&ih ElY
el TREAARES T ZHBATTRAER
B — AR M RS aE R 1R ([RRRAEIE 1R ])
WESIMERFERZ R 2 EEN IR HFIGA

Description

it

Reference

2%

Remark

B

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A RIR
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : R
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a
—REE significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
BHABERIAERBER  FUKR LB - §
ELEEBEZYNEESH - (@ BE  Rb)&ESF
HETABEAZENHBEELRONER -
KPI AT The types of emissions and respective emissions
FREBIER data.
A1 PR iR M AR R B R -
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes)

PR AE MIETR
A12

and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).

RERBABNE (AN E) R (ER) ZE (1
NBESEMN  §ERBAHE
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
BB AE IR R where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
A1.3 production volume, per facility).
FEAEEEEWEE (UEAE) R (NER)®

BN EESEN  SHERMETE) -

Environmental

Protection
IRIBIRE

Performance $F398
Summeary
KIEME
Performance F 398
Summary
KEME
N/A No hazardous waste
i A produced in the reporting

period.
REmEHETEELRS
REZEY)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BRE #HERER

BRR| @)

Description Reference Remark
i 2% L
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Performance FA0E
R AT and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of Summary
Al4 production volume, per facility). KEME
FrEEREEEYAE (UETE) R (Eh) =
E(mABESEN - BERMBE) ©
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and ~ Environmental FUBREZE28A
BB AE IR R results achieved. Protection
A15 R E B E e R PTSACR o RGERE
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Reducing Waste ~ £ 28 H
RS AE BUIEAR wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results and Promoting
Al.6 achieved. Recycling
HllRBEAEREZERNN L  REEENE ROREREER
MERETERAR - EEE
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEmA2: ERER
General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including ~ Use of Resources 28 B EFE 298
Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. BiREHA
— MR IR BERERBIR (BIEEIR K REMRME) BIBEE
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type ~ Performance F 408
BB E IR (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and ~ Summary
A2.1 intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per FKEME
facility)
RENESNEER LHEEER(WE - |om)
BRE (ATETRRFE) RMEE (WMAGESE
i - FIERMEAHE) o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per Performance F408
R AT unit of production volume, per facility) Summary
A2.2 BFEKERTE (MASESEMN  BERBHE) o REHGE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BRE #HERER

BRS| (&)

Description Reference Remark
it 2E e
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and ~ Energy Saving F298
B2 4B IR R results achieved. Ei g
A2.3 e TR AR At 8 R FTS AR o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing  Water F298
AR RIE IS water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency Management
A2.4 initiatives and results achieved. RAKER
F it sREVE A7KR L] B EERE - UREARK
Manat 8l R FTFHR »
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products  N/A No packaging material
AR A IS (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per 1 iE A used for finished products
A2.5 unit produced. during the year.

BUEK G BT RSB 08 B (DLNE ) B (AmiE R )
SHEBAIEE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHEA3: BERRAER

General

Disclosure

—RWE

KPI A3.1
RARE R IR
A3.1

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.

BRETAHRERARERERERNTENBE °

Description of the significant impacts of activities

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

B EBRBEHRERRARERNERZERD
RMEBEEZENTY -

Environmental

Protection
BB RE

The Environment
and Natural

Resources

RERRAER

#4525 HARA At 45 31 LK
R EEH -

E2HEE29H

F£298
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARABRERS (&)
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remark

i 2= i

B. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

BEBREIER

Aspect B1: Employment

EBmB1 : ERE

General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance ~ Employmentand $30BZE %348
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a Labour Practices

—RRIRER significant impact on the issuer. BEERSIER

W @QEE ROETHRETABEALEN
BRER BRI B R -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age  Staff Composition 5318
FAREBUIEE group and geographical region. B THK

B1.1 IR EERL FRAN MR DHIES R -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Staff Turnover E3RNE
BB 4E IR R geographical region. BTk

B1.2 RIER - Fiemp L@ S D HREERKRL X

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EHEB2: EREZE

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. N/A There were no work-
BB AE BUIEAR ETIERRERME T AR R & - N EH related fatalities during the
B2.1 year.
FAILEETIEBE M
o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. N/A There was no work injury
R AR EIGEAIEBE - N iE A during the year.
B2.2 FRWETE -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety %338
R E RS measures adopted, and how they are implemented 2 FEZ 2
B2.3 and monitored.

L AR A MO SR B B2 2 1+ DA R AR BRBAT
REB T -
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ENVIRONMEN

TAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BRE #HERER

BRR| @)

Description Reference Remark
i 2% L
Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3 : &R KRiEH
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Developmentand %348
Disclosure skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Training
—MHE training activities. R R
BRRTEERET TEBE MBS HEER -
AL FEE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Performance FA28
R AT and employee category. Summary
B3.1 RUERNNMEEEHNSSNZIIRBEB DL REME
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per Performance F428
R R E IR employee by gender and employee category. Summary
B3.2 Rt NEEBERE D BREETKZINTE KRAHGE

P8I o

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EEB4 : 8T XA

General

Disclosure
— M=

KPI B4.1
RSB A NUEIR
B4.1

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer.

BR: @QBE: Kb ETHETABEATEN
HEEREBEBINER -

Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.
AR SR E R E e LA R E T R4 T -

Employment and

Labour Practices

EBEESTIER

N/A
N iE

There were no no-
compliance cases
regarding child and forced
labour.
WEABET RAH ST
BEREMG -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BRE #HERER

BRR| @)

Description Reference Remark
i 2% L
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such N/A
BSR4 B 1E practices when discovered. TiEA
B4.2 A 3R E R BN B A BB ATRI A 28R -
B. OPERATING PRACTICES
B. & E1EH
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS : ftEEHEER
General Policies on managing environmental and social risks  Supply Chain #3558
Disclosure of the supply chain. Management
—MRIXEE ERHEENRE L SRAREBUR - HERER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain #3558
BB AE RUIEAR miRE D HEREE - Management
B5.1 g E e
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain #3558
R AT suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Management
B5.2 are being implemented, and how they are HpEsEE IR
implemented and monitored.
B AR AMERNED - MERTHEBEND
HEHEE  URBBEMNRITMERTE -
Aspect Bé: Product Responsibility
[BHEB6: EmEE
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Product EIISEHEEIE
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a Responsibility
—RHRE significant impact on the issuer. EmEE
BR: @QBE: Kb ETHETABEATEN
HEEREBBINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product FISEEFE
R E IR subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. Responsibility
B6.1 EEHCDEXEMRHETRL2RERIEHME EmEE

B H H DL ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)
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CHERER

BRR| @)

Description Reference Remark
i 2% L
KPI B6.2 Number of product and service related complaints ~ Product FEIBEEF3GE
R AT received and how they are dealt with. Responsibility
B6.2 RIERNE m MRS HIRFFE B A KR B )7 EmEE
E e
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Product FIEEFEIE
R AR protecting intellectual property rights. Responsibility
B6.3 R B R RIE B ERE R FAVIER EmEE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall ~ Product EIEEFEIE
BB 4B IR R procedures. Responsibility
B6.4 Ml E =i BiE REMEIWER o EmAE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Product FEIIEEF3E
AREBIEE privacy policies, and how they are implemented Responsibility
B6.5 and monitored. EmEE
HiEEE ERMRIE RFLBECR - A RMEERITR
BRI
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7: RES
General Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Anti-corruption F36E
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a k&S
—RIREE significant impact on the issuer.
B @QBR: Mb)ETHETATEATED
GiE! Eﬁxi@&%ﬁiﬁﬂﬁ’\]éﬁ?ﬂ
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption F36H

FAS A IETR
B7.1

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERPAHETARHERBRLICEENE
THIRARMH BB MEFAAER o

RESF
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BRE #HERER

BRR| @)

Description Reference Remark
it 2E e
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption F368
R AT blowing procedures, and how they are implemented X &’5

B7.2 and monitored.

B. COMMUNITY
B.# &

AL BE R B REF - ARBERTRERD
P

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HERE

General

Disclosure

—RWE

KPI B8.1
SR 4R IR IR
B8.1

KPI B8.2
PR 4B IR IR
B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
BRENHEBESERTREEMEHLETZMER
HEBEHEERBLENSZAIBR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

FIEREE (WHE REFE HIFRK @R
XMk - B8F) °

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the

focus area.

EEIREMHMER (M ENKERE) -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognizes the importance of corporate transparency
and accountability. The Company is committed to achieving and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, as our Board
believes that good and effective corporate governance practices
are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the shareholders
of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain
the success of the Group and to create long-term value for the

shareholders of the Company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. To the best knowledge of
the Board, except as disclosed herein the Company has complied
with the CG Code from the Listing Date up to the date of this

annual report.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions by Directors in respect of the shares of the Company
(the "Code of Conduct”). After specific enquires by the Company,
all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard of dealings set out in the Code of Conduct from
the Listing Date up to 31 December 2018 (the “Relevant Period”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and is collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising its affairs. Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company. The Board meets regularly and

Board meetings are held four times a year at quarterly intervals.

EEERER
ARBIPACEEAZELHEHNEENE - AR
AHMAONERRERRKFHEEER 1T H
REZFERR REARNEEE AT HREIUE
REBAABRREEMMEREENETLE
s YARSBEEESEAENERTTE
NEREAREORINE /A RBRREERE
B1E-

ARRHBEERERTIENGEM L5 B M
BTAMmEmERERTRI((REERTR) -
BEFEGMAM BRAFHRAKEEIN B LD
HHEEAFREY ARAHEETERER
SN

EENRSFRS

ANAF B HEMGEM LT 47 I £ 5.48 £ 5.67 f& -
ERBBRESRARGBRMNETESETESR
M1 AFRI((TASAD « ERRATHELFE
ERE 2HREFCHER BELTWAHEE=ZT
—N\F+ZA=+—B(HEBAH8]))  ®#Zc2
EETITATRMENRER HIZE -

Exg

ARBH—AEARENEEERE MEFE
BREEREENER YERABRSGETEE
HEBMeEARRRRY) - EFEEBTSE - A
ERARBNAEARANG EFSENEHER
VEFEREFEEERELIIR  ROBF—R -
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive should
be clearly established.

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar currently assumes the role of both chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that both roles being held by Mr. Cheung will
provide a strong and consistent leadership to the Company which
will facilitate effective planning and efficient management of the
Company. Furthermore, having considered Mr. Cheung’s extensive
experience in the engineering industry, the relationships Mr.
Cheung has built with customers and the historical development
of the Group, the Board considers that it is beneficial for the
Group to have Mr. Cheung continue to act as both chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company. In order to maintain good
corporate governance and fully comply with the code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board will regularly review the need to
appoint different individuals to perform the roles of chairman and

chief executive officer separately.

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Company is committed to the view that the Board should

include a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) so
that there is an independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement, and that non-
executive Directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for

their views to carry weight.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the following five

Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar

(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Mr. Ng Pak Hung

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion

Mr. Chan Wan Fung
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EERZEENENHELE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board &BESRAFERITNEESLNEEZZESTH
committee meetings of the Company held during the Year is set ~ #JH @ a0 8RN T 5% -

out in the table below:

Number of meetings held during the Relevant Period
Attended/Eligible to attend
BHE/AERHERAIEABETNEERY

Annual
Board Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting

ESE88 2 ENZEE REZEE FMHZEEE RREFAS

Number of meetings held BIMEERY 3 1 0 0 N/AT i A
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REERE 3/3 N/AT i N/AT i A N/AT i A N/AT i A
Mr. Ng Pak Hung RABEE 3/3 N/AT i N/AT i N/AT i N/AT i

Independent non-executive ~ BUHHTEE

Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam BRZR LA 2/2 i N/ATNE A N/ATNE A N/ANE A
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion BRER A& 2/2 1/1 N/ATE R N/ATER N/ATE R
Mr. Chan Wan Fung BREZLE 2/2 11 N/AT i N/AT i N/AT i

FFEHIR IR KB 5T AR ST AR SR
BEVBFEARETEERRIOR -
R
S

Although the Company expects to convene at least four Board E& &N
meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals  A.1.1 &
in accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, due to  #)&5Z%E— BHRNIEEEGSEERE  AF
the short span of time during the Relevant Period, less than four EZRMHESSSH VAR o

Board meetings were held during the Year.

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out inthe Z#E=EXKEAWNBERFEHNARE([EERSLE
section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this report. 2 [E | —&f o
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS (continued)

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the
Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The independent non-executive Directors have brought
in a wide range of business and financial expertise, experiences and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees,
all independent non-executive Directors have made various

contributions to the Company.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers such independent non-executive Director to
be independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal action against

the Company’s Directors has been arranged by the Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

In accordance with the Articles, all the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any new
Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company following his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company (“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES ABRBE

The Board supervises the management of the business and ZEZCEBARAEBLEFNER  MERE
affairs of the Company and ensures that it is managed in the HEHFAREEEFNZUMNBEATETEE -ES
best interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole. EFEBEFITEBKERE B LEEARAN
The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the business ¥#&IE - EHTBHRERRFEREUARERRE
strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance EBARAMNERE FESZSHLESTEMNNT
of the Company, approving the financial statements and annual KIEEENEETERE @ WIRHBEMIER - &
budgets as well as directing and supervising the management of FEETHREETEEBRTRE UL BHHAD
the Company. Execution of operational matters and the powers A RXEARARMERIER AR - EFREAIRETY
thereof are delegated to the management by the Board with clear 1 & 5 A f# #9511 ©

directions. The Board is regularly provided with management

update report to give a balanced and understandable assessment

of the performance, position, development and prospects of the

Company in sufficient detail.

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance EEENMBEASEBENGEELRRE  BiE

functions of the Group, which includes:

—  To develop and review of the Group's policies and practices — #ERIRFIAEENREEABERRER
on corporate governance;

- To review and monitor the training and continuous professional — M MEREZEL SR EEENEILE
development of directors and senior management; BEERR:

- To review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on — BT NERAEETETEIEZREETRT
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; TEMBERMER

- To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and — #E - BRILKERFEARNEERESNTE
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; SPRIRERFM &
and

—  To review the Group's compliance with the CG Code and — M®alAEEEFEEE STANBEL LD
disclosure in the corporate governance report. EERMEMERIKE -

During the Relevant Period, the Board had reviewed and discussed RIEBHIHEA  EE B LilmAEEAD
the corporate governance policy of the Group and was satisfied BRI + I ¥ A& B 1B BUR A9 RS
with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the  El@E °

Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established
three Board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Group's
affairs, namely the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Each Board committee has its own terms
of reference relating to its authority and duties, which have been
approved by the Board and are reviewed periodically. The terms of
reference of each committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each Board committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Group's expense.

Audit Committee

The Group established the Audit Committee on 20 August 2018
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C.3.3 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee include, among others, (a)
making recommendations to our Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor;
(b) reviewing our financial statements, our periodic reports and
accounts and significant financial reporting judgements contained
therein; and (c) reviewing our financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems. Our Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Wan Fung,
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion. Mr. Chan

Wan Fung is the chairman of our Audit Committee.

During the Relevant Period, the Audit Committee held 1
meeting, at which it has reviewed and discussed the Company’s
audited consolidated financial results for the Year, including the
accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group, the
Company'’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report, the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems as well as the
Group's internal audit function. The Audit Committee has also
recommended to the Board to consider the re-appointment of
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) as the
Company’s external independent auditors at the forthcoming AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Group established the Nomination Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
A.5.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination
Committee include, among others, (a) reviewing the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of our Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to our Board to complement our corporate
strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of our Board and selecting or making recommendations
to our Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of our independent
non-executive Directors; and (d) making recommendations to
our Board on the appointment and succession planning for our
Directors. Our Nomination Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam and Mr.
Chan Kai Kow Macksion, and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Cheung is the chairman of our Nomination

Committee.

The policy for the nomination of Directors, including the nomination
procedure and process, are to invite nominations from Board
members or Nomination Committee members. After undertaking
adequate due diligence in respect of any such nominee, the
Nomination Committee makes recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval. In the context of re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
makes recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-

election at a general meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)
The Nomination Committee considers the following criteria in

assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:
(@) reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant

industry and other relevant sectors;

(c) commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and

attention to the Company’s business;

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience

(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge;

(e) the ability to assist and support management and make

significant contributions to the Company’s success;
(f)  compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules for the appointment

of an independent non-executive Director; and

(9) any other relevant factors as may be determined by the

Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

During the Relevant Period, the Nomination Committee did not

hold any meetings.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Company considers diversity
of board members to be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments are based on merit, and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due

regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group
achieved the objectives of its Board Diversity Policy for the Relevant
Period.

Remuneration Committee

The Group established the Remuneration Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.35
of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Remuneration Committee, under the principle
that no Director or any of his associates should be involved in
deciding his own remuneration include, among others, making
recommendations to our Board on (a) our remuneration policy
and structure for all of our Directors and senior management;
(b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages
of our executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their offices or appointments; and (d) the remuneration of our non-
executive Directors. Our Remuneration Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum
Sam and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and one executive Director
namely Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam is the

chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During the Relevant Period, the Remuneration Committee did not

hold any meetings.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and such letter of appointment may be terminated by
either party giving at least one month’s notice in writing. Also, the
independent non-executive Directors are subject to re-election on

retirement by rotation at the AGM in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of their independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam, Mr. Chan Kai
Kow Macksion and Mr. Chan Wan Fung to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM

Listing Rules for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of a director’s
responsibilities under applicable statues and common law, the
GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies. The Company
will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills relating to their duties and

responsibilities.

All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company's expense and they are requested to
provide the Company with their training records. According to the
training records maintained by the Company, all Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar, Mr. Ng Pak Hung, Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam,
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and Mr. Chan Wan Fung had attended
training sessions on obligations, duties and responsibilities of

directors during the Relevant Period.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other employees
of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group
has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information or any use of such information for the advantage of
any individual. Inside information and other information which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of Stock Exchange and the

Company in due course.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Relevant Period, the remuneration bands of senior

management is listed as follows:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

BEERBMAFTHEE

ARRIEHIET B R R IE MM AR BENIEF
K REBEE - RABIERIEGEM LR A 5.46
ES567 R EFTETARAEFRHRA—ELT
ASFRI e REEA R AR B AN AT BERF B AR AIHY
NBEBETMAZGINEERS - AEEBERE
RRERARTHABHEL  AREMEAFEM
ERAEBER - ARHEE RRIEGEM LR A
BT DA ER B0 LA BRI 0 B B IR A B X AT I
ZAYNEIE=3= =0 EED A A P

= AR E 1 E A
PR SREREOFHEENRAT

No. of person(s)

FiEE (GEx) AB
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 078 7L % 1,000,000 7T 1

HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees are set out in note 10 to the consolidated

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability

to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's

Report as annexed to this report.

1,000,000 7% 7T 2 1,500,000 % 7T
1,500,001 7 7T, & 2,000,0007% 7T
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION
During the Relevant Period, the fee paid/payable to the external

independent auditor of the Company and its affiliates is as follows:

BYRBEME
RIBRAMAM - B AR RISMEE A% AR
REMBARNEREIMT :

Description HK$
i 7T
Statutory audit services EEBERZRTE
600,000
Non-audit services for acting as reporting accountant  #&1F =T B R & 5HAD A FE|AZ AR TS
for the listing 2,100,000
Grand total et 2,700,000

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and
review of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
and review of their effectiveness. The Board must ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains effective risk management and
internal control systems to meet the objectives and safeguard the

interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The Board oversees the Group's overall risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. At the same time, the
Group endeavours to identify risks, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating

measures.

The Group does not have an internal audit department but the
Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for such an internal audit department. Given the Group's
relatively simple corporate and operation structure, the Board,
as supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk

management functions and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Group's risk management and internal control system features
the following processes to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks, and review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, as well as resolve material internal control
defects:

e Members of the Board and Audit Committee discuss with the
external independent auditor key issues in relation to internal

controls, audit findings and risk management;

e The Board and Audit Committee oversee the financial
reporting system and internal control procedures; in this
process, management is principally responsible for the
preparation of Group financial statements including the

selection of suitable accounting policies;

e  The external independent auditor is responsible for auditing
and attesting to Group financial statements and report to
the management of the Company from time to time on
any weakness in controls which come to their attention; the
Board and Audit Committee oversee the respective work of
management and external auditors to ensure the management
has discharged its duty in respect of having an effective

internal control procedures.

During the Year, the Board had engaged an external consultant,
CT Partners Consultants Limited, to conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system which covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Group. The Board
considered the risk management and internal controls systems of

the Group to be adequate and effective for the Year.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
aimed to manage, rather than eliminating, the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and thus can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequate
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs

and the budget accounting and financial reporting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, and the applicable legislation and
regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules (as amended from
time to time), the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"). EGMs shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by mail at 5/F, Winning
Commercial Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such requisition should specify clearly the name of the eligible
shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the eligible
shareholder(s) concerned together with a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice
of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory

requirements to all the registered shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued) BRERER| (&)

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by BREBERREAENER (&)

Shareholders (continued)

The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share BB ERKEHAQAFNEERHBFERLDEZ
registrar and transfer office of the Company and upon their & EHERZERKBABENEER ZFTLHR
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board BRI EMATE B R X EFT D BIUE
will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance FBREFRIAE - AR Wiz ERKEZEBE T #E
with the requirements under the Articles to all the registered E AR RERT 2HRBAUI N AR A
shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as  _Eil &MY @ @& ERREHE S
not in order or the shareholders concerned have failed to deposit # &R MESE AL ARAKREFIAE -
sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for the said

purposes, the eligible shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of

this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM.

If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to WEFSREREUERERXE2IBRNEHREAE
convene such meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the EAE ' ARRARRLEERKALTENBRELE
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be SKALTHAZEGREAMAREMEENTEAE
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. X o

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at RERASLREZRRZNER
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles RFREBEMAIFE 641K - LR RFRIAE LR
for including a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and JRZEZE - AR ELEFERN EXTIREAREK
procedures are set out above in the paragraph headed “Procedures R AEMIEF | —E o

for Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board NESEELHEHANER

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to  AEB+HEMRBRROHEE - HURSERER
promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Shareholders  {E#IREE R - SRR BHEERTEAER
are encouraged to send their enquiries to the Board by post to the & [ AGER ] —EAEHMN T ELEME - WE
principal place of business set out in the section headed “Corporate  EE{FLE « RRMAIR A AT REAE LA
Information” in this report. Shareholders may also make enquires ZEEEIRHEH

with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investment community. The Company has established
a shareholders communication policy to set out the Company’s
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and

understandable information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to,
annual, interim and quarterly reports, circulars, announcements,
and notices of AGMs are update on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company

(www.boltekholdings.com).

In addition, the Company regards the AGM as an important event
as it provides an opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and its shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the AGM.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
Except for the adoption of the Articles by the Company to comply

with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements (including the
GEM Listing Rules) on 20 August 2018 in anticipation of the Listing,
there were no changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company during the Relevant Period. The Articles is available on

the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEGHRE

The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal business activity of the Company is that of investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the

consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 18 April 2018. Its shares
were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13 September 2018.
Pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group in connection with the
Listing, the Company underwent a corporate reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”), the Company became the holding company of
the Group on 10 August 2018. Details of the Reorganisation are set
out in the section headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure — Reorganisation” to the Prospectus dated 29 August
2018.

DIRECTORS

The name of every person who was a Director at any point during

the Year and up to date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (Executive Director)
Mr. Na Pak Hung (Executive Director)
Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (Director)
(appointed on 18 April 2018 and resigned on 27 April 2018)

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr. Chan Wan Fung (Independent non-executive Director)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Chan Yu Sum
Sam, Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and Mr. Chan Wan Fung will
retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed

"Directors and Senior Management” of this report.
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RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 84 of this report.
The business review of the Group for the Year, which includes
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an analysis
using financial key performance indicators of the Group’s business,
particulars of important events affecting the Group, an indication of
likely future developments in the Group'’s business, and discussion
on the Company’s environmental policies and performance and
the relationships with its stakeholders, can be found in the sections
headed “"Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, "Corporate Governance Report”, “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” and “Independent Auditor's Report” of

this annual report. The review forms part of this directors’ report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past three financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 164 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 11 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 20 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

A statement of the reserves available for distribution to
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2018 is set out in
the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” and note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the Board takes into account, inter alia:
(i)  the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v) the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The
dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be

proposed or declared in any specific period.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of any
final dividend for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SECURITIES

The Board confirms that during the Relevant Period, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company's securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Tuesday, 14 May 2019 to Friday, 17 May 2019, both
days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In the case of shares of the Company, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK)
Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 10 May 2019.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 August
2018 (the "Adoption Date"”). The terms of the Share Option
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal

terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(A) Purpose of Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds
any equity interest ("Invested Entity”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

)

Any employee (whether full time or part time employee,
including any executive Director) of our Company, any of

its subsidiaries and any Invested Entity;

Any non-executive Director (including independent
non-executive Director) of our Company, any of its

subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

Any supplier of goods or services to any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

Any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

Any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of our

Group or any Invested Entity;

Any shareholder of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by

any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

Any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any

member of our Group or any Invested Entity; and

Any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute, by way of joint venture,
business alliance, other business arrangement or
otherwise, to the development and growth of our Group,
and for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the
option may be granted to any company wholly-owned
by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants or any discretionary object of a

participant which is a discretionary trust.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(&)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

72

Total number of shares available for Issue under the
Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in the
Company in issue on the Listing Date, being 80,000,000 shares
in the Company.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant under the
Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the options must not exceed 1% of the

total number of shares in the Company in issue.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an Option

The period during which an option may be exercised is
determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of

grant.

Minimum period for which an Option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by our Board and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the

holding of an option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of an option and the
Period within which payments shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of grant of an option. An option may be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the

letter containing the offer is delivered to that participant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) fERESTE ()

(H) Basis of determining the Exercise Price (H BEETHEENEE
The exercise price in respect of any particular option shall, AR 4R B AR A 51 B 16 SR &Y E (] 38 B
subject to any adjustment made pursuant to the terms of the A EERENTEERAERSE
Share Option Scheme, be such price as determined by our EWMER WEFABRATELERUT &
Board, but in any case shall not be less than the highest of (i) mE(RREBREBR (AR SHH)
the closing price of the shares in the Company as stated in R AMERAWMARBRGWAE - (i)
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of REEREEREBBIAER S BB
the grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the Frg B RERAMARTFHWTE : R (i)
average closing price of the shares in the Company as stated R EREBBRARRRMDOEE -

in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share in the

Company on the date of grant of the option.

() Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme () BBRESTEAFERER
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a BREGEISERAMBPRI0FHEANE
period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date. R AR
As of the report date, no share option has been granted, HERSHH - BRABEE - WEERKR
exercised, cancelled, or lapsed under the Share Option PERER H 1T FEEHER AR o

Scheme since the Adoption Date.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS % 1R 4 88 17 R

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements  FREEARMEETEIHD - AN A B F AR FT 2 (] B 1
were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at ~ #MAE - IMEERIIREEMAGENFRDATTE -
the end of the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION BiIER %
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available HEEFFTA - MEBRRAFTBE AR R FHFMES
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s LRI FLTER % °

securities.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Year attributable to

the Group's major customers and suppliers are as follows:

FEEFRHERS
rEEFERFRHERNEBEFNHEEREED
DR

%
SALES HE
— The largest customer —HmAKP 12.3
— Five largest customers —HEREP 324
PURCHASES 2
— The largest supplier — R AHEER 28.8
— Five largest suppliers —h KHEER 61.0

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in the major customers or

suppliers noted above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, details of significant transactions with its related
parties or transactions undertaken in the normal course of business
are set out in the note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
None of those transactions constitutes a disclosable connected

transaction pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DONATIONS
During the Year, the Group made donations amounting to a total
of HK$312,000 for charitable purposes.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the required standard of dealings as referred
to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

I.  Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest
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Number of shares Percentage of

held/interested shareholding

i EEERN
EEHE EEME RHEE BEED
Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 426,000,000 53.25%

SREFIE RREEE R (FEE)

Note: These shares were held by Waywin Investment Holding Limited

(“Waywin"), a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.
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BRAR(TRBRDEFHE -
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations (continued)

Il. Long position in the ordinary shares of associated

corporation — Waywin

EEREREMER 2
EERIRTHRABREAQAREAB X
Ea KRG HERONEERNRERLR

(%)

I REBEIE-BREBRNFAE

Number of shares Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
IE= Vg op -3
E=pE EatE igrig 4= READL
Cheung Kwan Tar Beneficial owner 1 100%
SRETE BamER A

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2018, the following parties (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had interests of 5%
or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR ‘ :

FERRRAEMATRAERARRE - 8
ERONERZRAR

RZZE-—N\F+_RA=+—B UTAL(EF
HARBEETRABRIN RAR R A+
BRBNARBIREES NG GO 3361FA
BT SR ME 5% A FayREa ¢

Name of substantial Number of shares Percentage of
shareholder Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
g EEREEN

TERRESR BB ERME RHEAE BETD

Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 426,000,000 53.25%

RAFIE AP A E R (FEE)

Chiu Chui Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 426,000,000 53.25%

TR Ao B (EE2)

Waywin Investment Holding Beneficial owner 426,000,000 53.25%
Limited

B BIERBR AT Em#EAA

Cheng Chi Heng Beneficial owner 58,800,000 7.35%

] EmEE A

Polar Lights Limited Beneficial owner 57,600,000 7.20%

Polar Lights Limited EREAA

Wong Che Shing Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 57,600,000 7.20%

TEH REEEE R ERE (FFE3)

Lam Mi Yung Interest of spouse (Note 4) 57,600,000 7.20%

MER BB (MsE4)

Twinkle Galaxy Limited Beneficial owner 57,600,000 7.20%

Twinkle Galaxy Limited E=ERA

Lam Kwan Yuen Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 5) 57,600,000 7.20%

MR LB (T EES)

Qiu Jianlian Interest of spouse (Note 6) 57,600,000 7.20%

FEE BB (ko)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FERFREMATRAEQITRES - 1
AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT ERONEZRAE &)

POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, AND UNDERLYING

SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes: ffsE -

(1) These shares were held by Waywin, a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung (1)  #ZERMDBREGELENZI LB ELEE -

Kwan Tar.

(20 Ms. Chiu Chui Ping was deemed to be interested in 426,000,000 shares of the (2 HRBEYLIWRAZRAERBRFELENESMES
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. 77X F] 426,000,000 % B 1) B A 2 e

(3)  These shares were held by Polar Lights Limited, a controlled corporation of Mr. ()  ZED B T EB T AR 2T A B Polar Lights Limited
Wong Che Shing. A -

(4)  Ms. Lam Mi Yung was deemed to be interested in 57,600,000 shares of the @) MERZLTHRAERERBITH CENEZNHES
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Wong Che Shing. 787X 7] 57,600,000 f% A% 17 B #E 25 o

(5)  These shares were held by Twinkle Galaxy Limited, a controlled corporation of (5)  ZE KD B AMREIR L L/ 2L E Twinkle Galaxy
Mr. Lam Kwan Yuen. Limited 5 ©

(6)  Ms. Qiu Jianlian was deemed to be interested in 57,600,000 shares of the (6) EfRELZTIWRAZAERBMBREENERMES
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Lam Kwan Yuen. 787X 7] 57,600,000 i i 17 B #E 25 o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Company [ FXFiEEZN R-_ZE—NF+-_A=+—
is not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief B K AR WA MBI EMA L (BB AN
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in  F T BT A 2B 4N A A 7 R% 5 sk A8 78 IS 1
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded inthe i H BN A NGB IEZ L BRSNS
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of 334 (K /BEFH B MEES AR .

the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive Directors currently in office have entered into
service agreements with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue unless
terminated by either party giving no less than three months’ written

notice served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated
by either party giving no less than one month’s written notice
served by either party on the other.

The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by rotation

of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed
to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM has entered into a service
contract or an appointment letter with our Company or any of our
subsidiaries (other than contracts or appointment letters expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment

of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the Company’s
shareholders’ approval at general meetings and such emoluments
shall be determined by the Board and the Remuneration
Committee with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. Details of remuneration
of the Directors are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

EERBEH

FIAEERTEEC BARBRILRBHE @ £
Bl R = F Y REEEEE M — AR
H—HELTPIOR=EANE@EMN TIALL -

BBIUFANTEFCHARAT LA LW AR
NEERB=ZFOZER  THEA—TAS—
FEEADR—EANEEBEM T AR -

EERBFRARMAANAMBESRERET -
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EEHM
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management’s remuneration, on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of office or

appointment.

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities and employment

conditions elsewhere in the Group.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and

secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any

matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.
A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors

against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought

against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and related party
transactions are set out in the Corporate Governance Report and

note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, no transaction, arrangement or
contract that is significant in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a person who at any time during the Year was a Director or
his connected entity had, directly or indirectly, a material interest

subsisted at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except for the Share Option Scheme, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiary undertakings was a party to any arrangements to
enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during
the Year.

INTEREST IN COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the
Company, or any of their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in a business apart from the
Group's business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s business during the Year, and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing

Rues.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS
Each of controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Cheung and

Waywin has confirmed to the Company of their respective due
compliance with the terms of the deed of non-competition (the
“"Deed of Non-Competition”) since the Listing Date and up to the
date of this report.

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition and were satisfied
that the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition had been duly
complied with and enforced since the Listing Date and up to the
date of this report.

During the Year, the Board had not received any written
confirmation from any of our Directors in respect of interest in any
business (other than our Group) which is or is likely to be directly or

indirectly in competition with our business.

INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed Grande Capital Limited (“Grande”)
as the compliance adviser. Except for the compliance adviser
agreement entered into between the Company and Grande dated
16 August 2018, neither Grande nor its directors, employees or
close associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) had any
interests in relation to the Company or in the share capital of any
member of the Company which is required to be notified to the
Group pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules as at the
date of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the best knowledge
of the Directors, the Company maintained a sufficient amount of

public float for its shares as required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group fully complies with all laws and regulations and regularly
monitors and gathers information about changes in laws, rules
and regulations relevant to the Group's businesses to ensure the
Group's observance of those applicable laws, rules and regulations,

especially those which may have material impact on the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
Grant Thornton, who will retire at the end of the forthcoming AGM,
and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Grant Thornton as the independent auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Boltek Holdings Limited
Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 15 March 2019
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Q‘ GrantThornton
[

TO THE MEMBERS OF BOLTEK HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Boltek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 92 to 163, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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REETER
MREAFEEREBEESNEXHE  RREX
PRAaPBHREANEARSEENFTH - RFF
HREESERERGEAMBBRRALLARRR
ETREN MBS TS ELEREHERN
BRe

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BRgEESTEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENBITNMEEBRRENSE

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy services

KB TR KRR WS

Refer to notes 2.11, 3(a) and 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRRGE A BEREMTE2.11 - 3@) K4 -

The Group recognised revenue and cost from the provision of ~ Our procedures in relation to assess the revenue
engineering design and consultancy services of approximately  from engineering design and consultancy services
HK$88,422,000 and HK$50,439,000 respectively during the year
ended 31 December 2018.
REBEZ-ZE-N\F+TA=+—HLFE EBESEBEREHT
23R AT I B L AR 75 B W 25 95 Bl 40 7% 88,422,000 7 JT & 50,439,000

included the following:
EERMEIERTMERRBOHKENIZFE
FEATAHE :

BT °

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy services
are recognised by reference to contract costs incurred at the
reporting date for work performed as a percentage of total
forecast contract costs at the end of the reporting period. The
Group recognised revenue over time only if it can reasonably
measure its progress toward complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation.
RETRER;FRERBRBO KR D2ERREBAMELENS
HRAERBERARNTERS O EEN S LER . BF
EETRAEBAEBETEBITRARBHERR A RS -

understood management’s process in
estimating the contract revenue, and forecast
contract costs and determining the contract
progress;
THREBEMA RS RBRE QAR
HERAERENBRE

checked the accuracy of the total contracts
value to engineering design and consultancy
contracts or other relevant correspondences
and supporting documents, on a sample basis;
KB T A REIRER LRERGHONEE
HEEEMBREEE R X RN
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
BREFTSEER@

Key Audit Matter
BEEEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENENNEEFARENSZE

The contract progress requires the management'’s estimation
of the actual outcome in terms of total contract costs, which
requires the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in relation to the estimation of total forecast contract
costs and the recoverable variation works. These estimates are
also made based on past experience and knowledge of the
project management.

BHEREREREEREARAEKAGLEERER  EF 21T
£ EAREIRE HIE - 5552 BT TR S R AR K 7] 4 o] &
FIREH 2EMEMRBEAENIAR ERERIMBMEL

We have identified the revenue recognition related to
engineering design and consultancy services as a key audit
matter, considering the extent of management judgement
exercised.

KREBEBRENHEGREE HMADKEIER MERRBA
FAR A TERIEE SRARETSH ©
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discussed with the management about the
performance and status of contracts, on
a sample basis, to obtain explanations for
fluctuations in gross profit margin and changes
in the budgeted cost, if any;

Mg AABERENma ANETERR
RS - CAEIS B EF E R B ) R R FAE KX
RE)EE) (NAF)

agreed, on a sample basis, contract sum to
signed contract (and variation orders, if any)
and checked, on a sample basis, the project’s
forecast costs (such as subconsultancy fees
and labour costs) to supporting documents
including but not limited to invoices, price
quotation and rate of labour costs;
NHETABEMRITENNEN R (RE
FE(A))  WAHER XiRE X4
BHEEAKEK (MO EREREEBKNA) B
FETBRNESE WRERBBHAE ;

inspected, on a sample basis, underlying
documents in respect of actual costs incurred
to year end and compared, on a sample basis,
the project’s cost component of the actual cost
incurred up to year end to the forecast cost
and obtained explanation from management
for any variation;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
BEFTSEER@

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEEE EENETNMEEBERESSE

- recalculated the amount of revenue
recognised for individual contracts, on a
sample basis, based on agreed contract sum
(plus recognised variation orders, if any), total
forecast costs and actual cost incurred;

— BEHBENEOLE (N LEHERNEE S (40
B))  BIRKAREENERKA - A
HFREMAEREFENERN KA

— assessing the reliability of the approved
budgets by comparing the actual outcome
against management’s estimation of
completed contracts on a sample basis.

— MBI ABREBLBREREREEEEHE
TR A KN R A S ETREN TS -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2018 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the CO, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B %RBEN RS

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued))

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#HEARBRAR] \

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABEN RS

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF B MM BEFREMBERRAENELT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (#&)

(continued))

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HMEBZLZEL/BBENZTET  EEHRTEZRE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the BHANPLEAEMBERENEFARAEES  AmE
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current FKREIEEFT B - ZEEXHE RSP IBMEE
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe  FIE ' RIEEFREZR T AT ARAEZELZTEIE -
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation SHEMKERLWBERAT @ MRS EBHES SR
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely &SR EBREEHERNEEERBRAEENAR
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be Fl& ' BERFENEERSH/BEBZEE -
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited BE (BB SHMEBAERAA
Certified Public Accountants 2 E =y u]

Level 12, 28 Hennessy Road BB

Wanchai &

Hong Kong e FFE 2855 1218

15 March 2019 —F-NF=A+AA

Chan Tze Kit BR £

Practising Certificate No.: P05707 HMEFEZHES - P05707
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEREmRkEMEEKSER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T—tF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Revenue & 88,422 86,221
Cost of services ARAG B A (50,439) (50,831)
Gross profit EX 37,983 35,390
Other income H g A 568 466
Administrative expenses THAX (36,965) (15,294)
Profit before income tax B T 48 Bt B & Rl 1,586 20,562
Income tax expense FAS B X (3,024) (3,372)
(Loss)/Profit and total comprehensive AATEREEAELER
(expense)/income for the year () (#AREE
attributable to equity holders (FIX%) Wz 5
of the Company (1,438) 17,190
HK cents HK cents
A (L
(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable to ARATEZFEEABEER
equity holders of the Company (E8]) B
Basic and diluted EARR S (0.22) 2.87
The notes on pages 97 to 163 are an integral part of these HF 997 E 1638 ZMABKNZITHRE W BEHRET L —

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR LR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current asset EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI -~ BB KR 11 1,475 1,362
Current assets REEE
Contract assets BHEE 14 8,504 7,338
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E e W IE 13 30,822 25,119
Current tax recoverable A U [e] BN HA 77 18 1,266 =
Cash and bank balances & MIRTTH R 15 75,285 8,355
115,877 40,812
Current liabilities REBEE
Contract liabilities BHEE 14 659 657
Provisions B 16 2,206 2,206
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H b e 5018 17 2,059 5,403
Amount due to a director B —REEZFHIE 18 1,500 8,073
Amount due to a related party e — 2 B 5 A 18 = 1,200
Current tax liabilities BIEARIIE & & - 1,959
6,424 19,498
Net current assets RBEEZFE 109,453 21,314
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 110,928 22,676
Non-current liability ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEFBBERE 19 153 131
Net assets BEFE 110,775 22,545
EQUITY EDR
Share capital [N 20 8,000 =
Reserves R 21 102,775 22,545
Total equity R 110,775 22,545
Cheung Kwan Tar Ng Pak Hung
REHE Eyih
Director Director
EZE %

The notes on pages 97 to 163 are an integral part of these HE97F163E Z Wit B EHEAMBEHRERZ —

consolidated financial statements. 7B o

Annual Report ¢ 2018 93



Boltek Holdings Limited o Zi#ZA% AR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANRERTEARGAER
Share Capital Share Retained
capital reserve* premium* earnings* Total
[LEN Exfifer RORE* REBN st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TAT THT TAT

(Note 200  (Note 21(a))  (Note 21(b))

(KzE20)  (BHE21@)  (RT&E21(0)

Balance at 1 January 2017 R-B—+F—f—HB&E® - - = 18,708 18,708
Profit and total comprehensive FRETIR2ERRARE

income for the year - - - 17,190 17,190
et e T ) B AR (i 8) - - - (13,353 (13,353

Balance at 31 December 2017 R-E—+&+-A=1+—H

and 1 January 2018 k=—Z-NF—-F—H&H% - - - 22,545 22,545
Issuance of ordinary shares of RERERCBTENLE

Mannings for Loan Capitalisation & i (Pff % 20(d) &

(Note 20(d) and Note 27(b)) K3 27(b) 5,000 - - - 5,000
Issuance of ordinary shares of HERDREENRERAR

Richness Universal for Pre-IPO 4T Richness Universal

Investments and Bonus Shares TR (3 20(e))

(Note 20(e)) 9 - 11,991 - 12,000
Effect of group reorganisation EEEMAVTE (5,009) 17,000 (11,991) = =
Issue of ordinary shares pursuant ~ RIFE AL BETET L AR

to the Capitalisation Issue (Bt 3E 20(b) iii))

(Note 20(b)(ii)) 6,000 - (6,000) - -
Issue of ordinary shares pursuantto  RIZMR D3 & ETELBR

the Share Offer (Note 20(c)) (B#5E 20(c)) 2,000 - 70,668 = 72,668
Loss and total comprehensive FRERRZERLARE

expense for the year - - - (1,438) (1,438)

Balance at 31 December 2018 RIE-N\F
TZA=+—-H&8H% 8,000 17,000 64,668 21,107 110,775

* These reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$102,775,000 (2017: * GEREEEAEREBRESV B REDEE
HK$22,545,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 102,775,000 70 (=2 — 4 : 22,545,000/87T) °

The notes on pages 97 to 163 are an integral part of these HE97F 1638 7 fFBRZEEE BRI —
consolidated financial statements. 5 o
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#HEARBRAR]

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RELETBNEESRE
Profit before income tax B BT 1S L A 4 A 1,586 20,562
Adjustments for: ABATNEIAE :
Interest income A EHA (324) )
Depreciation e 586 476
Operating profit before working capital EERESEHILL RN
changes 1,848 21,036
Increase in contract assets A HEEEM (1,166) (1,261)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 N H A e Uk SRIE SE N (5,703) (4,332)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 N H b A~ FRIE R A (3,344) (378)
Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities adaEEm Ofd) 2 (1,250)
Change in the current account with H—ZEENERERE
a director 1,500 (1,200)
Decrease in amount due to a related party ~ FET — % B 5 75 RIE R (1,200) =
Decrease in provisions BEER D = (695)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations BB (FTA) /i8R & (8,063) 11,920
Income tax paid EREREH (6,227) (2,437)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (),
operating activities B33 & F5E (14,290) 9,483
Cash flows from investing activities REREZHNRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB E W% - = K& (699) (685)
Interest received =L SN 324 2
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFTHE 2 FEE (375) (683)
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Boltek Holdings Limited o Zi#ZA% AR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHET
Cash flows from financing activities REMETBNESRE
Dividends paid ERRE (3,073) (9,594)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary HERAABEARER
shares for Pre-IPO investments and EFRERNMBITEER
Loan Capitalisation Z 5 ?7\ 20(d)&(e) 12,000 =
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares ~ RIEI (53 EZ/T LR 2
pursuant to the Share Offer Fris 17\ 20(c) 72,668 =
Net cash generated from/(used in) A& ZE AR (BTE)
financing activities &) FEE 81,595 (9,594)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERBLEEYE M
cash equivalents (RA) F5 66,930 (794)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERREEED
beginning of year 8,355 9,149
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of EREESRESZEY
year, represented by cash and bank ERE RIBITHER
balances 15 75,285 8,355
The notes on pages 97 to 163 are an integral part of these HF 997 E 1638 ZMABKZITHRE T EHRET L —

consolidated financial statements. B
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#HEARBRAR] \

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE
1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF 1. " REBREINEREE
PRESENTATION

1.1 General information

1.1 —REH

Boltek Holdings Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands on 18 April 2018. The addresses of
the its registered office and principal place of business
are Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and 5/F, Winning
Commercial Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha

Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company, which is an investment holding company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in provision of engineering
consultancy services in Hong Kong and investment
holding.

The Company’'s immediate and ultimate holding
company is Waywin Investment Holding Limited (“Waywin
Investment”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"). The ultimate controlling shareholder
of the Group is Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (“Controlling
Shareholder”).

The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 13 September 2018.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 15 March 2019.

ERERERAR ([RARDRZE
—NFHAT+NBERASHSRIEM
EHERNTEAMKIAEREER
AR A Emimit &+ E &
1 2h % Bl iz 7 Clifton House, 75 Fort
Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands & & % J1. 8
DM MR E 46485 E B EAES
1(;0

ARBR—FKBREERAR  ERE
MEAR (REIAKEDEBRER
ERRHIZERRE RREER -

AABNEERRRERRARIER
REEBRABARAR ([BREE] - &
RAB—RRRBRLES (RER
RS EMAIN AR - AEEH
REEBRBRRBREERE (HERK
Rl -

KRB —_E—NFALA+=H
ERBBMARSFARAR ([HBRAT])
B GEM k1 °

BE_T-N\F+_HA=+t—RHL*F

ENGEMBERREN _ZF-hF=
A+HBERE=SHERZ -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF 1. —REBRZINEE &)
PRESENTATION (continued)
1.2 Basis of presentation

1.2 25|HE

98

Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”),
which was completed by interspersing the Company and
Richness Universal Limited (“Richness Universal”) between
Mannings (Asia) Consultants Limited (“Mannings”) and
the Controlling Shareholder (the “Reorganisation”) in
connection with the listing of the Company’s shares
on the GEM (the “Listing”), the Company became the
holding company of the companies now comprising the
Group on 10 August 2018.

Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the paragraph
headed “Reorganisation” in the section headed
“History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in
the Company’s prospectus dated 29 August 2018 (the
"Prospectus”). The Group is under the common control
of the Controlling Shareholder prior to and after the
Reorganisation. The Group comprising the Company
and its subsidiaries resulting from the Reorganisation is
regarded as a continuing entity.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017
which include the results, changes in equity and cash
flows of the companies now comprising the Group have
been prepared using the principles of merger accounting
under Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger
Accounting for Common Control Combinations” issued
by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") as if the Company had always been the
holding company of the Group and the current group
structure had been in existence throughout the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, or since their
respective dates of incorporation, where it is a shorter
period.

The consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018 and 2017 have been prepared to
present the assets and liabilities of the companies now
comprising the Group as if the current group structure
had been in existence as at those respective dates.

Annual Report ¢ 2018
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#HEARBRAR]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEME
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

21 RBEEE

These annual consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO") and include the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$" or “HKD"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries,
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000), except where otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
accounting policies of the Group. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3
below.

All HKFRSs which were effective for the accounting
period commencing from 1 January 2018, together
with the relevant transitional provisions, have been
early adopted by the Group in the preparation of the
consolidation financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017.

REFEERAMBHRRIRETEY
BHREEL ([FEMBHREEN]) &
2 HREERELSIMASRM
M A E R ERIE M BRE LR
EREEMRREBURETELARS
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ZWMEER) 25 RABBEABRY
BERBATU(TET) -

REFEEMBRELENREGEEMT
BRAEAETERGER - BN
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BIELHIE - P RBEHERRRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHTBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

21 REEE(E)
ERTEHMRERNERMBHRESE
Ll
RZEGAMBHRRERERY K
SEYERFPEAUATEEMER K
M ZHE RABERTER BRI A R
2B (M RRETREMBRSE
Al :

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group have not early applied
the following new and amended Standards, Amendments
and Interpretations (“new and amended HKFRSs"”) which

have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases' EERGHEREN HE
5165
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® BEATBREEN RBREKS
F175
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with BEAMBHRERA BEMECENER
Negative Compensation’ F95R (BFIA)
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan amendment, curtailment or B FrENERT - HERSEE!
settlement’ F195 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in BB ETER REEARREERE
Associates and Joint F28% (BFTA) HREER
Ventures'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEAVBREEN REZFHHEBENFN
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FI0RREE RECERCEEN
Associate or Joint Venture® SHERFE 28K EHEE!
CHES)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material? B MHEEE?
and HKAS 8 FIRREB
2EERIE 8K
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business? CHES)
EAVBREEN FBHEER’
3% (BT A)
BEAVBREEN BAEUBHREEA=ZT
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to CHEN, —hFEZT—tF
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle' BE 2 R
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax BB (BRMBRE AEHITEEEERE
Treatments' ZEZEE)
—ZEE 2%
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 v RZTE-—NF—A—BRZERBNEE
HAR A 3
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 2 N—E_TF-—A—BHRAZEBRABNEE
HAR A 3
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 S RZTEZ—F—A—BRZERABNEE
HAR A 3

4 Effective date not yet determined

100 Annual Report ¢ 2018

& ERA B R AREE
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i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHTBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

21 WMBEE(E)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (continued)

The directors anticipate that all the new and amended
HKFRSs will be adopted in the Group's accounting policy
for the first period beginning after the effective date of
such standards. The Group is in the process of making
an assessment of the impact of these new and amended
HKFRSs upon initial application. Currently it has been
considered that adoption of them is unlikely to have a
material impact on the Group's results of operations and

financial position, except for the following:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HKFRS 16 “Leases” will replace HKAS 17 and three

related Interpretations.

Once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases.
Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees will
account for all leases in a similar way to current finance
lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the
lease, the lessee will recognise a corresponding “right-
of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this asset and
liability, the lessee would recognise interest expense
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability,
and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead
of the current policy of recognising rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a systematic basis
over the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee
can elect not to apply this accounting model to short-
term leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12 months or
less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which case the
rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a

systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHTBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1 RBEE (&)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group's accounting

as a lessee of premises which are currently classified as
operating leases. The application of the new accounting
model is expected to lead to an increase in both assets
and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense
recognition in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income over the period of the
lease.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019. As allowed by HKFRS 16, the Group
plans to use the practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements are,
or contain, leases. The Group will therefore apply the new
definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that
are entered into on or after the date of initial application.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified
retrospective approach for the adoption of HKFRS 16 on
1 January 2019 and will recognise the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening
balance of equity at 1 January 2019. Comparative
information will not be restated. In addition, the Group
plans to elect the practical expedient for not applying the
new accounting model to short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets and not to perform a full review of
existing leases and apply HKFRS 16 only to new contracts.
Furthermore, the Group plans to use the practical
expedient to account for leases for which the lease term
ends within 12 months from the date of initial application
as short-term lease.

As disclosed in Note 23, as at 31 December 2018, the
Group's future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases amount to HK$6,436,000 for
premises, the majority of which is payable between 1 and
5 years after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group plans
to measure the rights-of-use assets as if HKFRS 16 had
always been applied by using the incremental borrowing
rate at initial application date and the opening balances
of lease liabilities and the corresponding right-of-use
assets will be adjusted to HK$5,866,000 and HK$5,766,000
respectively, after taking account the effects of

discounting, as at 1 January 2019.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets, the Group expects that the transition
adjustments to be made upon the initial adoption of
HKFRS 16 will not be material. However, the expected
changes in accounting policies as described above could
have a material impact on the Group’s financial statement

from 2019 onwards.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the

Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group

ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHTBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

2.2 EEE(E)

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Amounts reported in the financial statements
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted

by the Group.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is

recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-

controlling interests.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiary is carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a
disposal group. Cost also includes direct attributable

costs of investment.

The result of subsidiary is accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the
investee's pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised

in the Company’s profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statement of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency of the individual entity using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange rates

at the transaction date).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. Depreciation commences when

the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of lease

or 25%, whichever is shorter

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 25%
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in

profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are

incurred.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when a Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets and

financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.

All financial assets (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component and measured at the
transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

(0]

Classification and measurement of financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified
as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through

debt
— equity investment; or FVTPL.

other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") -
investment; FVTOCI

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition, except if and in the period
the Group changes its business model for managing

financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as FVTPL:

—  the asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual

cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment's
fair value in other comprehensive income. This
election is made on an investment-by-investment

basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI as described above
are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition,
the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to
be measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI or at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces

an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Classification and measurement of financial assets

(continued)

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of
the business model in which a financial asset is held
at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way
the business is managed and information is provided
to management. The information considered

includes:

- the stated policies and objectives for the
portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice. These include whether management’s
strategy focuses on earning contractual interest
income, maintaining a particular interest rate
profile, matching the duration of the financial
assets to the duration of any related liabilities
or expected cash outflows or realising cash
flows through the sale of the assets;

—  how the performance of the portfolio is
evaluated and reported to the Group's

management;

—  the risks that affect the performance of the
business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks

are managed; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of
financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for
such sales and expectations about future sales

activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in
transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent
with the Group’s continuing recognition of the

assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are
managed and whose performance is evaluated on a

fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(continued))

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal”
is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. “Interest” is defined as
consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity
risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit

margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest, the Group
considers the contractual terms of the instrument.
This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the
timing or amount of contractual cash flows such
that it would not meet this condition. In making this

assessment, the Group considers:

— contingent events that would change the

amount or timing of cash flows;

—  terms that may adjust the contractual coupon

rate, including variable rate features;
—  prepayment and extension features; and
—  terms that limit the Group's claim to cash

flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse

features).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(continued))

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual
cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest (continued)

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely
payments of principal and interest criterion if the
prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid
amounts of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, which may include reasonable
additional compensation for early termination
of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset
acquired at a significant discount or premium to its
contractual par amount, a feature that permits or
requires prepayment at an amount that substantially
represents the contractual par amount plus accrued
(but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also
include reasonable additional compensation for
early termination) is treated as consistent with this
criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is

insignificant at initial recognition.

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and
gains and losses

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)
and cash and bank balances are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced
by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in the profit or loss. Any gain or loss on

derecognition is recognised in the profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset are transferred or in which the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does

not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it
transfers assets recognised on its consolidated
statement of financial position, but retains either all
or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets. In such cases, the transferred

assets are not derecognised.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on financial assets measured at

amortised cost.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL. For trade receivables and
contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach to providing for ECL prescribed by HKFRS
9, which requires the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables and contract

assets.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as
either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is

measured as lifetime ECL.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

—N\F+ZA=t—HILFE

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment

and including forward-looking information.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a
distinction is made between:

- financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage
1") and

—  financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
("Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the reporting
date.

"12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL" are recognised for the

Stage 2 category.

Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEME®)

POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

25 EWMIT A (&)
(i) EMEERE(E)

(iii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that results
from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the

instrument is less than 12 months).

In all cases, the maximum period considered when
estimating ECL is the maximum contractual period

over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the entity in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that

the Group expects to receive).

Credlit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on
a forward looking basis whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A
financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset

have occurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Crediit-impaired financial assets (continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or

issuer;

—  a breach of contract such as a default or past

due event;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the
Group on terms that the Group would not

consider otherwise;

- it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a

security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the
consolidated statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying

amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However,
financial assets that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities in order to comply
with the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts

due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)
(iv) Classification and measurement of financial

(v)

liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, amount due to a director and

amount due to a related party.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-
for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities
at FVTPL are measured at fair value , and, where
applicable, adjusted for transaction costs, and net
gains and losses, including any interest expense,
are recognised in the profit or loss. Other financial
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expenses and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the profit or loss. Any gain or loss on

derecognition is also recognised in the profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled,

or expire.

The Group also derecognises a financial liability
when its terms are modified and the cash flows of
the modified liability are substantially different.
In this case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognised at fair value. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished and the new financial
liability with modified terms is recognised in the

profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

—N\F+ZA=t—HILFE

2.5 Financial instruments (continued)

(vi) Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right
to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle
them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle

the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis
only when permitted under HKFRSs, or for gains and

losses arising from a group of similar transactions.

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment and the Company'’s
interest in a subsidiary are subject to impairment testing.
They are tested for impairment whenever there are
indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be

recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of time value

of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit

level.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HEZ =%

—N\F+ZA=t—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units
is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of

disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favorable change in the estimates used to determine the
asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of

depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in
hand.

Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of

whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are

classified as operating leases.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Leases (continued)

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the time pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives received
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rental
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in

which they are incurred.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

2.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit)
are deducted from share premium to the extent they
are incremental cost directly attributable to the equity

transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EREHBEBER)

POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Revenue recognition 211 WA
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised P B 58 4 3 [A) 22 P B SR AGE B SRR
goods or services to customers in an amount that BORECHE BRERRAEER
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects AR BmZEEmX R B EESD
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. RE-BABME  AEBES AR KR
Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue B T & A5 8% -
recognition:
Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer F—%: BAIRZTFIIMHNEL
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the F-F: BRENTHBHNRE

contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price E=H: BEXRHER

Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the ENL: BRGEBERIEESHNFTH
performance obligations in the contract BHEE

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity FRT: REBTHKBROEER (3
satisfies a performance obligation th) FE R &R

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a REBERTKBEAE TR (atL) &

performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” Rz AR BFEBNEEHEBORD

of the goods or services underlying the particular mm ARG A PR HE | B TR P o

performance obligation is transferred to customers.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Revenue recognition (continued)
Control of the asset may be transferred over time or at a

point in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time

if:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance

as the Group performs;

the Group’'s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or

enhanced; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

If the control of the asset transfers over time, revenue

is recognised over the period of the contract by

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction

of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the asset.

(a)

Engineering design and consultancy service

Revenue from engineering design and consultancy
service contracts is recognised progressively
based on the contract costs incurred to date as
a percentage of total forecast costs to depict the
transfer of control of the goods or services to the
customer. The Group recognises revenue over time
only if it can reasonably measure its progress toward

complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

Engineering design and consultancy service
(continued))

However, if the Group cannot reasonably measure
the outcome but expects to recover the costs
incurred in satisfying the performance obligation,
then it recognises revenue to the extent of the costs

incurred.

Incremental cost of obtaining a contract is
capitalised if the Group expects to recover those
costs, unless the amortisation period for such costs
would be one year or less. Costs that will be incurred
regardless of whether the contract is obtained are

expensed as they are incurred.

The Group presents a contract liability or a contract
asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position when either party to the contract has
performed. The Group performs by transferring
goods or services to the customer, and the customer
performs by paying consideration to the Group. Any
unconditional rights to consideration are presented

separately as “Trade and other receivables”.

Contract liabilities are obligations to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration, or for which an amount of

consideration is due from the customer.

Contract assets are rights to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group
has transferred to a customer when that right is
conditional on something other than the passage of

time.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis

using the effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Government grants

212 BUF B

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “other income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

2.13 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through

defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic

salaries.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as employees render services during the year. The
Group's obligations under these plans are limited to the

fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of

services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHTBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Employee benefits (continued) 213 EER/A (&)

Long service payment

Certain of the Group's employees have completed the
required number of years of service to the Group in
order to be eligible for long service payment under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in the event of the
termination of their employment. The Group is liable to
make such payment in the event that such a termination
of employment meets the circumstances specified in the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

The long service payment liabilities are the present
value of long service payment obligation less the
entitlements accrued under the Group's defined
contribution retirement benefit plans that is attributable

to contributions made by the Group.

2.14 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable
profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense

in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax

credits can be utilised.

REBR®E S

AEBETRECSAAEEFELRE
FHZIRY - ML LILER  AIREFTE
ERRIETEERGIENRARSE
- HEMKLERNBELNTEES
BEGOEENER  AIANEBEAE
HABENK -

FHRBEABEARARBEEED
BAEREA KB R EHFOR KR T
ZIIR T FEET e R (BN AC 52 [ 4F ) A it

) e

214 FAIBBINETEE

P15 50 8 15 BV B 1R OB AE IR o

MEBMEREER,/ RABEBEARR
SHRBEREHM (ARBEEH
AR ) M BE BB E
HKREEEPBE REFHRNRE -
IERDIEFRARRBESN - RIEE
B B E B R R BAETE
BN AEERABENAAEZESHNIE
SRR TIRFH — & D

BEIERIE TRV RS A RS M B H
FRAEERABERmMEREARRE
MERZRERABBERFTE - BEHR
HABE-—REUFMBEERRERKEZHE
R -EEHAEETISLAA AR
ERNZ8 AeaBREABRUREM
RERBRGERFER  HEAATEAE
RGN (BRRBERHE K Z5)
AEEAMHE R EZE  RERAKE
BEEREARGERZNBRSR

Annual Report ¢ 2018 123



Boltek Holdings Limited o Zi#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHTBEBE®)

POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

214 RSB E R ERE (&)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither

taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted

or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable profit, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the average tax rates that are expected
to apply to the taxable profit of the periods in which the

temporary differences are expected to reverse.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

2. TESTBRBE S

214 BB ERTEE (8)

The determination of the average tax rates requires an EEFHARERAGFTN)NEEERE

estimation of (1) when the existing temporary differences
will reverse and (2) the amount of future taxable profit
in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit

includes:

—  profit or loss excluding reversals of temporary

differences; and
—  reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented

in net if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off

the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off

current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:
(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled

or recovered.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Segment reporting
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the chief operating
decision maker for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group's business components and for

their review of the performance of those components.
2.16 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial

statements, a party is considered to be related to the

Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEEHBRBERE
POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Related parties (continued) 2.16 BAEE TS (&)
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following b) ZATABERBAFESUATEMIEK
conditions applies: 5
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the () ZERBEMAEEAER 5B
same group; "Ik B A A

=
\

L1

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (iy ZEBREMER(HRAZE
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of BAMESEKEARNES
a member of a group of which the other entity NAElE ER ) B = QR
is a member); HEEDRE

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of (il ZEBEAEERRA—F=
the same third party; THEERE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —EERBAXEE=Z7EEN
and the other entity is an associate of the third BELE MBE—EBARZ
entity; E=FERNBEDQT

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for v) ZERBASEENBELAEE
the benefit of employees of either the Group or ERENERAEENRR
an entity related to the Group; SRR R AT E

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZERBB —ERNEIEHRIA
person identified in (a); 2 il sk A R

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) REOIEEHATHZEE
influence over the entity or is a member of the BEAXESRZLER (HZ
key management personnel of the entity (or of ERNSRRNEEET
a parent of the entity); and KB &

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it (viiiy — B E BB (LB A
is a part, provides key management personnel BREB DK B - AR S B sk
services to the Group or to the parent of the AEENEARRBEEE
Group. BABRT °

Close family members of an individual are those family BEAMATHERREXNEREZE R
members who may be expected to influence, or be REEEPALEZERALHRZE
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the BERMALTHEHREKE °

entity.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Revenue from contracts for engineering design

and consultancy services

As further explained in Note 2.11 to the consolidated
financial statements, revenue recognition on provision
of engineering design and consultancy services is
dependent on the estimation of the progress of the
satisfaction of performance obligation of a service
contract over time. Based on the Group's past experience
and the nature of the contract activities undertaken by
the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced
such that the costs to complete and the revenue can
be reliably estimated. Actual outcome in terms of total
contract costs and/or revenue may be higher or lower
than those estimated at the end of each reporting period,
which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in

future years.

Significant judgement is required to estimate the total
contract costs and the recoverable variation works
that will affect whether any provision is required for
foreseeable losses. The estimates are made based
on past experience and knowledge of the project

management.
Details of the revenue, contract balances and provision

for an onerous contact are disclosed in Note 4, Note 14

and Note 16 respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE
3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 3. TEETHHFTRAE @)
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b) Estimation for impairment of trade and other

(b) BESREMEWIRE(FTRERAN

receivables (excluding prepayments) and contract
assets

The Group makes allowances on trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) and contract assets
to ECL based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as
set out in Note 2.5.

Details of the trade and other receivables and contract

assets are disclosed in Note 13 and Note 14, respectively.

MIE) R &N EERNRE G

AEERBEZORRREHEBEEEZN
RREETE S L EMEKHE (TR
BNRB)ARANEERREERE
HBE B - IR 25 E 0 ANEE
IAARE BB EESL - RITH R KA
EHEGBAREE RERSHRERA
HI BN E % SRR MR B ABURE
TTRERS -

EREZNEMBERRFTBEARENE
ENFBERERWME 13N ME14-

Annual Report ¢ 2018 129



Boltek Holdings Limited o Zi#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WEKDIBER
4.1 Revenue 4.1 Wz
The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note REB E EREBRERE I mERMTEE1
1.1 to the consolidated financial statements. Revenue is WEE o Wz — BRI N R R IR R
recognised over time and is disaggregated by nature of IR REBRBHEESENT :

engineering design and consultancy services as follows:

2018 2017

—E-N\%F —E—tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Civil engineering TARTHE

— Road & structural engineering —BRNEETE 40,125 47,571

— Geotechnical engineering — &=+ I 8,221 8,130

— Others —HAftb 5,695 6,001

54,041 61,702

Traffic engineering RBEITIE 27,178 21,795

Building engineering BFIE 2,380 -

Other ancillary services H it Bl E RS 4,823 2,724

88,422 86,221
Under the contracts with customers, each engineering BREBEEZTFHAL & TIRR RERM
design and consultancy service contract relates to facts REEHEHEGEELME BRI
and circumstances that are specific to each customer. EEREABHE SRNERARERR
Contract terms provide the Group with an enforceable TERORBAREEENKAIN L&
right to payment, for its performance completed to date, S M| 2 [ AN B2 B AR AR T SERA T (ST RRAE A

of its costs incurred plus a reasonable margin.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WHERDHEE &)

(continued)
4.1 Revenue (continued) 4.1 Wz (&)
Remaining performance obligations Fer@EOEE
The following table includes revenue expected to TREERHENRBEEREEHA

be recognised in the future related to performance RZE-—NFER-ZZFE—tF+=A
=T —BRARFE G HEARFE)
MBI EF 2 Was o

obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at
31 December 2018 and 2017.

At 31 December

2018
R=-FB-N\F
+=—HA=+—H
HK$'000
FHERT

Remaining performance obligations expected EHERBZEATHEHLEFE

to be satisfied during the year ending BEONGENSEE

31 December 2019 —F-NE+=-A=t—H 67,780
31 December 2020 —E_EF+-_A=+—H 23,996
After 31 December 2020 ST+ -A=+—H% 18,187
109,963

At 31 December

2017
R-Z—+t E
+=-A=+—
HK$'000
T
Remaining performance obligations expected FEHEREBEEUTESLEE
to be satisfied during the year ending BENRSENEE
31 December 2018 —N\&+=-A=+—H 54,678
31 December 2019 —NE+=-A=+—H 13,508
After 31 December 2019 —hWF+-A=+—H& 13,723
81,909
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WmRDEBER (&)

(continued)

4.2 Segment information 4.2 7 HER
The chief operating decision maker has been identified FELERFERRE /AR ART
as the executive directors of the Company. The directors BEF - BEFKASERBIERAR
regard the Group's business of provision of engineering B8 [ Hﬁﬁ&miﬁ‘%ﬁt}ﬁ_%éﬂ &
design and consultancy services as a single operating VEHAEERERRBZEE N E‘fﬁ/ﬁi
segment and reviews the overall results of the Group as DEELIRK - Bt - WEWEHNHF
a whole to make decision about resources allocation. B -

Accordingly, no segment analysis information is

presented.
Geographical information i 72 &
No separate analysis of segment information by BERAEENKRRRIERBDEEETE
geographical segment is presented as the Group's BRE—EERE (FH)  WIELES
revenue and non-current assets are principally HIZ IR S EE D H D HERE L DT ©
attributable to a single geographical region, which is
Hong Kong.
Information about major customers FREEXEEZEFNEHR
Revenue from customers which individually contributed &l Bl 2N 5= B 1 25 R 4 10% 1) &2 P 1
over 10% of the Group's revenue is as follows: =mUR
2018 2017
—2-N\F —T—+F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THT FHETT
Customer A ZEA 10,835 9,196
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5. OTHER INCOME 5. HAWA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Bank interest income HRATH S WA 324 2
Government subsidies (note) BT e B (B =) 220 337
Sundry income R 24 127
568 466
Note: Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational Training Mzt B EAREIRBREEXZSESHEY - %F
Council and the Construction Industry Council, institutions established by BEDBBRITRERARMREE TEMREE
the HKSAR Government, for providing on-the-job training for graduate BEREEBEINMRL MEFHAZEMHEN
engineers and trainees, respectively. There were no unfulfilled conditions REKIGHHAEHE -

or contingencies relating to these subsidies.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 6. FRFTEBIAIEF
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABT
Profit before income tax is stated after BR FT1S 4 Al a A A HIBR AT
charging: BIRRFH -
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (@) BIXA(BREEEHNE
emoluments (Note 10(a)) (note (i) (FfF5E10()) (FH=E()))
— Salaries, wages, bonus and —Fie L& B4l
other benefits R H 48 F 50,692 43,631
— Contributions to defined contribution — [ R EHFRIRET B3R
retirement plans 1,633 1,486
52,325 45,117
(b) Other items (b) EfbIEE
Depreciation (included in administrative e GIAITBRX)
expenses)
— Owned assets —BEEE 586 476
Subconsultancy fees (included in cost of DBE (Gt AR A)
services) 8,167 14,390
Auditor’s remuneration A G 620 20
Operating lease charges in respect BREABEDFNK S
of leased premises HERX 2,267 2,471
Listing expenses FmAX 17,762 =
Note: B 5T -
(i)  Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) () EBIRA(BEESIHE)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Cost of services PR %5 X AN 41,856 36,651
Administrative expenses 1TERFA X 10,469 8,466
52,325 45,117
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7.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

7. BHAX

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —T—+F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax ERBMNSHERE

— Current tax — B HAF: 18 3,032 3,399
— Statutory tax concession —EEBUOR % (30) (20)
3,002 3,379

Deferred tax (Note 19) FEEFRIA (FIFE19)
— Current tax — BHARL 18 28 )
— Effect of change in tax rates —MEEFHE (6) -
22 (7)
3,024 3,372

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the 'Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, Hong Kong Profits
Tax of Mannings, a subsidiary of the Group, is calculated in

accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31
December 2017.

RZFE—NF=A=+—H K FBLEGHE
BC2017 FEH B (BE]) (B798) RO ER)
(TZMGPIER]) - 5| AFIB B MRS o %K
PIERR=_FE—NF=ZA=F+/\HEE=
£ TRBHESHTE -

REMESHMAS - & EREERIZ825%
ZHREGENE 2B BB TTAMNRIR - Wi
R165% 2 R M2A BB TA LEHN 2
BiIA °

RE-T—N\F+-A=+—HILFE &
5 Y 28 )98 £ o0 708 @B T AR 48
RGBS -

EENBRERAE _T—tF+ _-_A=1—

B IEFE 2 fh et R TUE F LA K 16.5% B
e

Annual Report ¢ 2018 135



Boltek Holdings Limited o Zi#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rate:

Frie®ip X (4w
FSBB X MR s 2 IR E AR R fF
2 IR

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Profit before income tax BR B 15 25 Al A1) 1,586 20,562

Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% REBNBHHE16.5%

ATERHE 262 3,393

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR A 2 B 2 2,963 -

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue AN AT Uk o B R TS - )

Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime H 15 F /R A il 2 (165) =
Effect on opening deferred tax balance arising F R i R B B &= £ 2 F 4]

from a change in tax rates during the year RIET IR R 2 & (6) =

Statutory tax concession T BBUR R (30) (20)

Income tax expense FT{S i X2 3,024 3,372
8. DIVIDENDS B2

2018 2017

—E-NF —T—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET T

Interim dividends AR HARR B = 13,353

The directors did not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Mannings has

declared and appropriated dividends to its then shareholder
amounted to HK$13,353,000.
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9.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable
to equity holders of the Company is based on the following:

Bk (BE) B
AREBBHEAEESRER (BR)
BRIYERIATAE -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THETT
(Loss)/Profit (B8, EF
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to ARRERFEARGEFEA
equity holders of the Company (B518) & A (1,438) 17,190
Number of shares IR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Il#&F & @AREE (FA%)
(in thousands) 660,274 600,000

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
calculate the basic loss per share for the year ended 31
December 2018 includes (i) T and 1,999 ordinary shares in issue
at beginning of the year and during the year respectively;
(i) 599,998,000 new ordinary shares issued pursuant to the
Capitalisation Issue (Note 20(b)(iii), as if all these shares had
been in issue throughout the year ended 31 December 2018,
and (iii) 60,274,000 shares, representing the weighted average
of 200,000,000 new ordinary shares issued pursuant to the
Share Offer (Note 20(c)).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
calculate the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2017 representing the number of ordinary shares of
the Company immediately after the Capitalisation Issue (Note
20(b)(iii)), as if all these shares had been in issue throughout
the year ended 31 December 2017.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 and therefore,
diluted (loss)/earnings per share equals to basic (loss)/earnings

per share.

BHE-Z—/\F+-_A=+—HIEFE A
Dt ESREREERNETHE L BRE
BEEBEOFIORFADRIEETIRR,999
g AR ; (i) IREEE AT (FHEE 20(0)Gii)
B 317 19 599,998,000 % 7 I 38 A% - J8 40 B
BRERGNEBEE-_ZE—N\E+_A=+—
HIEFEBE 1T 0 &(iii)60,274,000 f% f 15 -
B4R 4% A% 10 3 & (M9 7% 20(c)) B Z5 17 Ay hn4E
5 200,000,000 T 5@ A%

HE-_T—+tF+-_A=+—HLEFEHR
ARt B IREAR RN T BB E
BN E2BE & AL 21T (BT = 20(b)iii)) R B9 AR 2
AEBEREE  BUOREZERNINEE=
E—t+F+ A=t HLFEEET-

BT \FRZFLFTZA=1—
RALEEE SEEEEEETRR  BUHESR
g (BR) BANERERER (BR)

BF| -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 10. EERFETHABNMEURTR
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EBREHAL
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETHAENEE
Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments, disclosed RIEGEM _EmR A - A aHEHIEE 383(1)
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of GhkAE (BEEZMNEEHR) ROIE
the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 2B BN ES RFEEITHA S8
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as M :
follows:
Salaries,
allowances, Discretionary  Retirement
and benefits Bonuses scheme
Fees in kind (note(vi))  contribution Total
5628 MERA BRI
we  RENEF (B &E (vi)) HE R @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TET TR TR

Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=F-N\&E+=A

St-BLEFE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar RAHE A
(chief executive officer) (1 E%)
(note (i)&iv)) (HEE () R (iv) - 2,400 1,500 27 3,927
Mr. Ng Pak Hung (note (i)&(iv) ~ RABELE
(32 Gi) B2 (v)) - 1,350 500 27 1,877
- 3,750 2,000 54 5,804
Indlependlent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors:
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (note (v))  BRINGRZELAE (FizE () 36 - - - 36
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion BRAR £ (V)
(note (v)) 36 - - - 36
Mr. Chan Wan Fung (note (v)) REZLE (W) 36 - - - 36
108 - - - 108
108 3,750 2,000 54 5,912
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE_Z—tF{+_f
“+—-BLFE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (note ()&iv) SRAHE T4
(BIZEG) R (iv) - 2,400 = 27 2427
Mr. Ng Pak Hung (note (i)&(iv) ~ RADBEE
(BEE i) B2 (v)) - 1320 238 27 1,585
- 3,720 238 54 4,012

138 Annual Report ¢ 2018



Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#HEARBRAR]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

10. EERFETHRAENMESLUR TR
BEREHEALT®)

(a) EBERTETHAENME (&)

(continued)

Notes: BT

(i) Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar was a director of the Company’s subsidiary (i) REELERBE_ZE-—\FR-_ZT—+
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 and was FH+_A=+—BILEEFERARANBER
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 April 2018 and AINEERR-_Z-/\FEHATN\BEZ
redesignated as an executive director of the Company on 20 ERARBES IR _ZE—N\FNA=T
August 2018. HERESAARATES -

(i) Mr. Ng Pak Hung was an employee of the Company's subsidiary (i) REBEERBEE_Z-—NFR-_ZT—+
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 and was FH+-_A=+—BILEFERARANER
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 April 2018 and AIMEIRR-_Z-—N\FOHATN\BEZE
redesignated as an executive director of the Company on 20 ERARBES IR _FE-N\FNA=T
August 2018. HERESAARAITES -

(i)~ Ms. Chiu Chui Ping was appointed as a director of the Company on @iy WEILIR-_ZE-N\FEA+NBEEE
18 April 2018 and resigned on 27 April 2018. No emoluments were RARREEFIR-_FT—-N\FEA=++H
paid or payable to her during the period from 18 April 2018 to 27 Bt - R=ZE-\FEATNBE=ZE-N
April 2018. FOA-+EBAHME - HERE N REN

HEMME -

(iv)  The emoluments shown above were for the services in connection (ivy LEiMEEEEEERAEEREBEZE_Z—N
with the management of the affairs of the Group during the years FR-ZZE—+FT-A=+—HIEFEN
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. ERmUERE RSB & -

(vy  No emoluments were paid or payable to the independent non- v REBEZE-Z—+tFT-A=T—HItFE-
executive directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 as W B A KB B I IEATESERME
they were appointed by the Company on 20 August 2018. DRARER=_ZE-—NFENAZTBEELR

FEZE

(vi)  For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no emoluments Vi) REBEE-_Z—/\FE-_ZFT—+tF+=A
were paid by the Group to a director as an inducement to join or ET—HIEFE AEEVERAESINE
upon the Group or as compensation for loss of office as a director e - ERIMAREE S IMAREEEE
or management of any members of the Group. BESEARNEEEMKERRINESFL

BT EBERRAAE o
(vi)  The discretionary bonuses are determined by reference to the (vi) BBIEANLZ2EAREEHRHFRREERE

(viii)

financial performance of the Group and the performance of

individual director.

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, there was no
arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive

any emolument.

(viii)

EHRAEE °

RBEZZT-—NFR=ZZT—tF+=A
=t—HLFE TEEFEREXRER
E AP ER T -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' 10. EEREETHRAEBNME UK S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEREHFAL @
INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(b) Five Highest Individuals (b) EBBEHFAL
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the five RBEZZ—N\FRERZZ—tF+=
individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the A=+—BLEFE AEEHNTE &
Group included two and two directors respectively. BHATORBEMRERMEES -
Details of the emoluments of the remaining three highest ERBR T =25 ATHHNEFE
paid individuals are as follows: LU
2018 2017
—E-NF —ET—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits ¥ e IEREMEN 4,134 4,176
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 980 498
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET SR 45 45
5,159 4,719
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e MR AT AR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Emolument bands: i & 48 Al -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & 7T Z 2,000,000 7% 7T 3 2
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. 9% BERRZRE

Leasehold Furniture Computer Motor
improvements  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
HENELE HGEREE ENKRE AE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THAL THL T FHTL
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE-t&-f—-H
Cost YA 100 405 950 1,090 2,545
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (75) (122) (296) (899) (1,392)
Net book amount REFE 25 283 654 191 1,153
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-E—-tE+ZH
=+-HALEEE
Opening net book amount EREFE 25 283 654 191 1,153
Additions RE 237 229 219 - 685
Depreciation & (30) (105) (288) (53) (476)
Closing net book amount EREmFE 232 407 585 138 1,362
At 31 December 2017 and R-E—tE+=A
1 January 2018 =t-AR=E-N\F
-A-H
Cost KA 337 634 1,169 1,090 3,230
Accumulated depreciation ZHHNE (105) (227) (584) (952) (1,868)
Net book amount REFE 232 407 585 138 1,362
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-®-N\E+ZA
=t+-HLEEE
Opening net book amount HREFE 232 407 585 138 1,362
Additions NE = 192 507 = 699
Depreciation & (59) (147) (327) (53) (586)
Closing net book amount HREREFE 173 452 765 85 1,475
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+ZA=1-8
Cost A 337 826 1,676 1,090 3,929
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (164) (374) 911) (1,005) (2,454)
Net book amount EmFE 173 452 765 85 1,475
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12. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 are as follows:

12. AMB AR KR
RN—E—-N\ER_E—+E+-_A=+—8 -
KARMBARIMFBOT :

Particulars of Equity
Place of issued and interest held
Name of incorporation Type of paid up by the
company and operation legal entity capital Company  Principal activities
ALK BERTR N
AREH T EEEEEY BRRAMFE FERE TEER
Directly held by the Company
ANREERE
Richness Universal The BVI Limited liability 2,000 100%  Investment holding
ordinary shares (2017:Nil*)
of USD 1 each
Richness Universal RBRZEE BRAR 2,000 % 100% HEER
BRI1ZTH (Z2—t%F: %)
TR
Indirectly held by the Company
ARAEERE
Mannings Hong Kong Limited liability 5,000,000 100%  Provision of engineering
ordinary shares (2017:100%) consultancy services
of HK$1 each in Hong Kong
BT BE AR AT 5,000,000 % 100% REBRMGIRE
BR1ETH (Z2—tF: B R
gl 100%)

Richness Universal is newly incorporated on 12 January 2018. *

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Richness Universal B = — \F— A+ = H#

EEalipAvAD

13. EZ R At EWKE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Trade receivables Z 5 W FRIE 24,301 19,809
Other receivables and prepayments H fth fE Y 5k IE KR FE S R IE 6,333 5,112
Utility and other deposits PRAEERAMZRS 188 198
30,822 25,119

The directors of the Group consider that the fair values of
trade and other receivables are not materially different from
their carrying amounts, because their balances have short

maturity periods on their inception.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 13. EZ REMEWRIE &)

Trade receivables

The Group usually provide customers with a credit term of O to
60 days. For the settlement of trade receivables from provision
of engineering consultancy services, the Group usually reaches
an agreement on the term of each payment with the customer
by taking into account of factors such as, among other things,
the credit history of the customer, its liquidity position and
the Group's working capital needs, which varies on a case-by-
case basis that requires the judgment and experience of the

management.

Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade

receivables was as follows:

B 5% BWRE
AEEBERATEFREHOEORANEEY -
shAE E IR TR M RS HE 5 R UGRR
ms  AREBREIEENRNFHERTS
ZR I AR (B ER) BPMERRE
RBESRRARAEELEESHFR(ZE
BIERMAMAR) FRE  WAKEER
& &y 1l N 4 B o

BEBREZEH - 85 RKFIERERE DT 40
T

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET TABTT

0 - 30 days 0£30H 12,827 6,175
31 - 60 days 312 60H 3,194 3,557
61 —90 days 61290H 2,010 5,043
91 — 365 days 91 % 365 H 5,583 4,683
Over 365 days 838 365 H 687 351
24,301 19,809

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9 which permits the use of lifetime ECL
provision for all trade receivables. The ECL rate for the trade
receivables is minimal for all the above bands of the trade

receivables.

Other receivables

No amounts in relation to other receivables were past due at
31 December 2018 and 2017.

AEBRABCDERB BB RE LR
FIOTMRENTBREEBRERE - %
EUAAFEMAESEREKEERFED
BHEEERREG HNLAMBEZREK
RREEME  EHEUKENAREEES
BRMTRE -

H W R IE

TEEBEMERFENSER TN
FR-FT—tFT-A=+—R@aH-
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14. CONTRACT BALANCES 14. SNEER

2018 2017

—E-NF§F —T—tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FHETT

Contract assets EHNEE 8,504 7,338
Contract liabilities AHAEE (659) (657)

7,845 6,681
The amount of revenue recognised during the year ended HE T \F+_A=+—HIFE "+
31 December 2018 from performance obligations satisfied in THRTKERMNGEIHIREEH MR @
previous periods, mainly due to the changes in estimate of the THREEXNNBAEERERANKESE A
stage of completion, is HK$1,029,702 (2017: HK$809,000). 1,029,702 77T (ZZE—+4 : 809,000/ 7T) °
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights EHEEFTBEAREERD K I IEEER
to consideration for work completed but not billed at RENENEA  ERBREBHARRAR -
the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred RIERIK SEGEEE  GHEEEREER
to receivables when the rights become unconditional. NI - SHBETEEGRPIEH R
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced BEE @ W IR EEERGHEEER -

consideration received from customers, for which revenue is
recognised based on the progress of the provision of related

services.
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14. CONTRACT BALANCES (continued)

15.

14. 80 &R (&)

Movements in the contract assets and the contract liabilities BREERGHNBREGEHRNBEZZE—N
balances during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 FR_F—+F+T_A=T—HILEFER
are as follows: OB
2018 2017
—B-N\F —EB—+F
Contract Contract Contract Contract
assets liabilities assets liabilities
EHNEE EHERE BHEE SHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHE T T T
Revenue recognised that was STAFNE N E B
included in the contract HREE R
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year - 490 - 1,828
Transfers from contract HEVBRNENEE
assets recognised at ER = R WGRIE
the beginning of the year
to receivables (4,416) = (4,713) -
The balance of contract assets and contract liabilities are EHEENAHNEENEHRTERR —FNR

expected to be recovered/settled within one year.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Wm, EE -

15. RERBITEER

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T T T

Cash at banks RITIRE 75,285 8,355

Note: Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit

rates.

BEE - RITIRSIRE BRITEARFIRLOZ B F R REFE
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16. PROVISIONS

16. B1E

Movements in provisions during the year are as follows: REANBEZBHNOT :
An onerous Employee
contract benefits Total
BREEH EEEA #rt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
(note a) (note b)
(ffsEa) (Hf5Eb)
As at 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—H—H 2,605 296 2,901
Realisation during the year FNEIE (695) = (695)
As at 31 December 2017 and RZE—tF+=A
1 January 2018 =t+—BRZZ—N\F
—H—H 1,910 296 2,206
(Realisation)/provision during FANER) BiE
the year (26) 26 =
As at 31 December 2018 R=F-N\%F
+=HB=+—H 1,884 322 2,206
Notes: Bt 3

(a) As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a provision of HK$1,884,000 (2017:
HK$1,910,000) for an onerous contract, of which the expected unavoidable
costs of meeting the performance obligation as stated in engineering
design and consultancy contract have exceeded the economic benefits
expected to be received. The provision was recognised for the contract

based on the estimated minimum net cost of completing the contract.

(b)  The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and long

service payment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 17. EZ R EMESFIE

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —T—+F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Trade payables (note (a)) B 5 R RIE (5 (a) 795 1,236
Accruals and other payables FEET & A I CH A e A~ B 1,264 4,167
2,059 5,403
Notes: B
(@)  The Group is usually granted by suppliers with a credit term of 0 to 30 (@) HERRTFTAEENEEHR —KRAE0E30H -
days.
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as BHRNFIERERAMNRRATAOT
follows:
2018 2017
e At —E—t%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
0 - 30 days 0&E30H 185 433
31 - 60 days 31E260H 12 41
61 -90 days 61E90H 21 39
91 — 365 days 91&E365H 138 616
Over 365 days iR 365 A 439 107
795 1,236
(b)  All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of the Group's b) FMEREHAELH Bt ~XEEESENMNKIE
trade payables and accruals and other payables are considered to be a R FEETE LA K E fth FE S RE R BRE B AR AR

FEKEEBTUUE o

reasonable approximation of fair value.
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18. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR/A RELATED 18. BY—BEE — LB 5 RE
PARTY
Particulars of amount due to a director and a related party are BN —RESk — 2 M RIBNF
as follows: BIOR :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT T
Amount due to a director JERT — R EEFHIE
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (note (a)) sREFE S 4 (5T (a)) 1,500 8,073
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Amount due to a related party JE 1~ — & B B 7 kI8
Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (note (b)) R 2+ (KEE (b)) - 1,200
Notes: Bt 3
(@) The amount due to a director is non-trade in nature. The amount due (@) EN—RESREBIZZHUEE ZEARES
is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. As at 31 AR - T ERREREE - R T N\F+=
December 2018, the amount represents discretionary bonuses to the A=+—H ZFBEREESFHRIFEAL (FL2HH
director (refer to Note 10(a)). #£10(a))

(b)  The amount due to a related party, Ms. Chiu Chui Ping who is the spouse

of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar and a senior management of the Group, is non- b) EN—ZEEAERFLT (RRAEELSENER
trade in nature. The amount due is unsecured, non-interest bearing and EAEENERERE) ORELAIFEF ML - Z
repayable on demand. BNRIEBEERER  RERRERERSR -
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19. DEFERRED TAXATION 19. IEFER I

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences BEHRER&E T —+tF+_A=+—
under the liability method using taxation rate of 16.5% in HEFFERAABEEREREZETHE
Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2017 and using EHNBEAE (RNEBOTER165%) © M
the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable REBEE_ZE-N\F+-A=+—HILEFE
profit of the years in which the temporary differences are KRB RERUEZERERTHRNF
expected to be utilised for the year ended 31 December 2018. BHEARERTRNZ FHARKTE -

The movement in deferred tax liabilities during the year and BLERBEEERFANESH NI HER
recognised in the consolidated statement of the financial HARGR & ISR R A PTRER AT

position as at each reporting date are as follows:

Accelerated
tax

depreciation

InEBL AT

HK$'000

FHATT

As at 1 January 2017 NZZE—+F—H—H 138
Credited to profit or loss (Note 7) FrAEE (FTEE7) (7)

As at 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 RZZE—+tF+ZA=+—HEK

—F-N\F—A—H 131

Effect of change in tax rates (Note 7) MEBE B (MizE7) (6)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 7) RiE= R (BIsE7) 28

As at 31 December 2018 R-ZEB-N\F+-A=t+—H 153
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group did not have RZE—+ER - ZE—NEFE+_A=1+—
any material unrecognised deferred tax assets/liabilities. B RNEBYWSEEAMERNRERECHEE

E/AfE-
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20. SHARE CAPITAL 20. BRA&
Number of
shares HK$'000
ivgrig 4= FHERT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each MRZZE—NFMA+/\BM

upon incorporation on 18 April 2018 BX A s AR 0.01 7 7T B 3 8 Ak

(Note (a)) (MF5E (a) 10,000,000 100
Increase of authorised share capital VA TE AR A (BT 3 (b)(ii))

(Note (b)(ii)) 1,490,000,000 14,900
As at 31 December 2018 R=FB-NF+=A=+—H 1,500,000,000 15,000
Issued but not paid up: ERTHERMZ
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each RZZE—NFMA+/\B M

upon incorporation on 18 April 2018 PR A2 s AR 0.01 7 7T B 3 8 Ak

(Note a) (Fft5E (a) 1 =
Transfer to issued and fully paid REAERERTEETRAR

upon Reorganisation (Note (b)(i)) (FFEE (b)) (1) =
As at 31 December 2018 R=ZFB-NF+=A=+—H - -
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each upon RZZE—N\FMA+/\B M
incorporation on 18 April 2018 (note (a)) BX A2 s B % 0.01 7 7T B 3 8 Ak
(K5 (a) - -
Transfer from issued and not paid upon the R EMHE B B 17 M ARSI

Reorganisation (Note (b)(i)) 8 (M 5E (b)) 1 —
Issuance of ordinary shares (Note (b)(i)) 17 E AR (P EE (b)) 1,999 =
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to the  1RIE & AN (b 317317 LA

Capitalisation Issue (Note (b)(iii)) (Bt & (o)(iii)) 599,998,000 6,000
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to the — RIEAR 7 & 217 E A

Share Offer (Note (c)) (PR EE () 200,000,000 2,000
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZB-N\¥+-A=+—H 800,000,000 8,000

*

2 S HERRIE DT 1,000 B TS -

=13

The balances represented an amount less than HK$1,000. *
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For the year

Ry EE

ended 31 December 2018 HHZ =T — \F+=ZA=1+—HILFE

20. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands on 18 April 2018 with an initial authorised share capital of
HK$100,000 divided into 10,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each and

1 nil-paid share was issued thereafter.

As part of the Reorganisation for the Listing:

(i) On 10 August 2018, 1,999 new ordinary shares and the one issued

ordinary share were credited as fully paid.

(i) On 20 August 2018, the authorised share capital was increased from
HK$100,000 divided into 10,000,000 ordinary shares of par value
HK$0.01 each to HK$15,000,000 divided into 1,500,000,000 ordinary
shares of par value HK$0.01 each, by the creation of an additional
1,490,000,000 shares.

(i)~ On 20 August 2018, 599,998,000 new ordinary shares of nominal
value of HK$5,999,980 were issued and credited as fully paid,
by way of capitalisation from the share premium account of the
Company, pursuant to the Capitalisation Issue as detailed in the

Prospectus.

On 12 September 2018, 200,000,000 new ordinary shares of par value
of HK$0.01 each share were issued at a price of HK$0.4 per share and
credited as fully paid pursuant to the Share Offer as detailed in the
Prospectus. The gross proceeds amounted to HK$80,000,000 and the
listing costs directly attributable to the issue of shares amounted to
approximately HK$7,332,000. The remaining proceeds amounted to
approximately HK$70,668,000 were credited to the Company’s share

premium account.

On 27 February 2018, the same capital of Mannings was increased
by HK$4,999,900 with allotment of 4,999,900 ordinary shares by
capitalising HK$4,999,900 of amounts due to the then shareholder (“Loan
Capitalisation”).

In March 2018, as part of the Reorganisation, (i) Richness Universal
was authorised to allot and issue, credited as fully paid, a total of 482
ordinary shares of US$1 each to Pre-IPO Investors at consideration of
HK$12,000,000 (“Pre-IPO Investments”); and (ii) 518 new ordinary shares
and 98 new ordinary shares of Richness Universal, credited as fully paid
at par, were allotted to Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar and a Pre-IPO Investor

respectively, by way of bonus issue (“Bonus Shares”).
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21. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

during the year are presented in the consolidated statement

of changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

(a)

(b)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve of the Group as at 31 December 2018
represents the difference between the nominal value of
the share capital of subsidiaries acquired by the Group
and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for

the acquisition under the Reorganisation.

Share premium

The share premium includes (i) the difference between
the par value of the shares of the Company and net
proceeds received from the issuance of the shares of the
Company as detailed in Note 20(c) less the Capitalisation
Issue as detailed in Note 20(b)(iii).

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account of the Company may be
applied for payment of distributions or dividends to the
shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to
be paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.
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22. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 22. &xA BB AR R FK

COMPANY
2018
=t
HK$'000
FH T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interest in a subsidiary M — M E R R E) s 44,271
Current asset REBEE
Bank balance IRITAEER 55,597
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payable H fth f& 5T 3R I8 10
Amount due to a subsidiary JE A~ — R Bf B8 & R 5K IE 830
840
Net current assets REBEEFRE 54,757
Net assets EEFE 99,028
EQUITY =
Share capital [N 8,000
Reserves (Note) s (M) 91,028
Total equity ERBEE 99,028
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors R-E—hE=-fFt+RREES=ei R
on 15 March 2019. 52 4 |3 o
Cheung Kwan Tar Ng Pak Hung
REE RHEE
Director Director
EF EE
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22. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 22. XA RIB IR F* (&)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: The movements of the Company's reserves are as follows: Mzt - ARARMREEBOT
Share Capital Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses reserves
R 10 % 8 BEAHE RiEE REEE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
(Note 21) (Note)
(B=E21) (B %)
Balance as at 18 April 2018 RZZE—NFMA+/\BHEEH

(date of incorporation) (FEf A B H) - - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant RIBE A BT T EBAR

to the Capitalisation Issue (Bff 5 20(b) Gii) )

(Note 20(b)(iii)) (6,000) - - (6,000)
Effect of group reorganisation SESEHENTE = 44,271 = 44,271
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant RIEAG D B E BT E B

to the Share Offer (Note 20(c)) (B 5 20(c)) 70,668 - - 70,668
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREE K EHE X 1425

for the year - - (17,911) (17,911)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 R=F-—N\E+=A=+—H

) &L 5 64,668 44,271 (17,911) 91,028
Note: BT
Capital reserve BEARGHE
Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the RATIMERFEEEA R AR K EH W ERiIchness
total equity of Richness Universal acquired by the Company pursuant to the Universal U s B FREA AR N R gL L M B TR AR EE 2
Reorganisation over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in R ZRE ©
exchange therefor.
R 2 =
23. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 23. EEHERE
As lessee ERAEAEA
At the end of each reporting date, the total future minimum NEpE QK - ANEBRE T O] BNE L
lease payments payable by the Group under non-cancellable AEREMYFARSEREXBEENT
operating leases are as follows:
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —F—tF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Within one year —FRA 2,268 2,849
In the second to fifth years E_FERF 4,168 6,596
After five years hFE - 4,127
6,436 13,572
The Group is the lessee in respect of premises under REBAKLHEETYENETEA - S
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial period B S HIR — s — S (T —

of two to three years (2017: two to ten years). The leases do
not include contingent rentals.

“E+F) HEYTEEXAEE -
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 24.

In addition to the balances and transactions detailed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had the following related party transactions during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
The emoluments of the directors and senior management
of the Company, who represent the key management
personnel during the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017 are as follows:

FABL RS

Brir B MR E b BB PRt M A R L XX
5% AEBRBE_T- \FE_ZE—+t
FH_A=T—"RLEFEHEA NIREBT
R

() TEEEAESHME
RBE_Z-N\FR-_B—tF+=
A=+—HLFE ARBAEEKRSD
RERE(RTEEEAB)MENT :

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FABTT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMET 9,365 8,502
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 3,310 476
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RANAE F T2 R 135 117
12,810 9,095

(b) Material related party transactions

(b) EXBBLRS

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

Name of related party Nature HK$'000 HK$'000

BHE B8R =T THET FHETT

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (note (a)) Rental expense 349 396
SR B 5 A (i EE (a) HEMX

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (note (b)) Rental expense 226 193
S 22 4 (K (b)) HERX

Head Concept Limited (note (c)) Rental expense 173 145
BE—ARAE (M () HERX

Jetek Co., Limited (note (d)) Rental expense 757 787
EBEBRA R (M) HEMRX

Manita Company Limited (note (e)) Rental expense 181 154
EFEBR QA (k) HE X
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Material related party transactions (continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar is the Controlling Shareholder and an

executive director of the Company.

(b)  Ms. Chiu Chui Ping is the spouse of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar and a

senior management of the Group.

() Head Concept Limited is owned by Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar as to 51%
and Ms. Chiu Chui Ping as to 49%.

(d)  Jetek Co., Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.

(e)  Manita Company Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Chiu Chui Ping.

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. The
financial risks include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance. Risk management is carried out by the senior
management of the Group and approved by the board of

directors.
The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

156 Annual Report ¢ 2018

24. BB B R 5 (&)

(b) EXBEHAIRZ (&)
B

(@) REEEEABRBRERRAABRTES -
b) HREILZIARBELEENEBRASE
SR EEE -

© B-FARATARBELLEEFS%RER
SR YRR 49% ©

d EHERARARBEREZEHRS -

() EBHNEFRARMBERFLLIZEHES -

5. MEBEERAFEITE

AEERBEEXRBBERETEEERSRT
A MAETHER - MBERRSENERRE -
EERREASHESAR - AEENEER
REERBEERHAKREM B RANE
ETNgEREREK RAREENIHAAKHE
EREEBATIRESTEME -

AEBHZERBNAZERAEERERZ
F R\ P A R B 1 R B B IR IR M B B
NN



Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#HEARBRAR] \

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25. Mg EBEER A FEE @)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
25.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities BN ERMEERABSE
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated e MBARKRAIIREERTI 2
statement of financial position relate to the following MEEHBBEIEAH :

categories of financial assets and liabilities:

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Financial assets EREE
At amortised cost: B AFTE ¢
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 Kk HEAth B FKIA 28,564 24,641
— Cash and bank balances —IR& NIRRT 75,285 8,355
103,849 32,996
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FABT
Financial liabilities SREE
At amortised cost: W EK AT E
— Trade and other payables — B 5 REAMENRIE 2,059 5,403
— Amount due to a director *JEH FEEFIE 1,500 8,073
— Amount due to a related party — FE{ — & BB 75 ;1B - 1,200
3,559 14,676
25.2 Interest rate risk 25.2 = & kg
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or HEMTEMNATFEXREREEH
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because RFI R R A TIGHEEEmEH) o
of changes in market interest rates.
The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group’s bank AN B SRAT A SR A R R B A E A AR

balances is considered immaterial. BITRERK o
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 B EREER AFEFE @)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

25.3 Credit risk 253 EERE R

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group's exposure to
credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised financial
assets and contract assets is limited to the carrying

amount at end of each reporting period.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers and counterparties. These evaluations
focus on the counterparty's financial position, past
history of making payments and take into account
information specific to the counterparty as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
counterparty operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade and
other receivable and contract asset balance at the end
of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment

losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

At 31 December 2018, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 12% and 38% (2017: 14% and 30%), of the
total trade and other receivables (Note 25.1) were due
from the Group's largest trade debtor and five largest
trade debtors respectively. The aggregate amounts of
trade and other receivables from these trade debtors
amounted to HK$3,304,000 and HK$10,960,000 (2017:
HK$3,551,000 and HK$7,443,000) of the Group's total
trade and other receivables at 31 December 2018.

158 Annual Report ¢ 2018

EERREERIANYHF I RER
BERTANGRBETEETRYEAR
SEERM BB AR - AREME
HHMEERREBZRENEBEERK
BEFATFRELEE - NEEFD
HRATREERANEEMH R &
REERBRRMNEHERR 2 REE °

HRESREMERREBERAHDEEM
EORBRHMAEEPREFHETHE
AMEERG ZFHEEINEFH
ZHEAOR - BEN KRS - WE RS
FHZEEERAREHFHEER
ORERE AREEEREERE
AR R REE — TRk a HiE
o MO AREREHREMREMZ
ERNESREMERRERAENEE
AR Z R m £ FE - DARER YT R
[l & B8 {F 78 R R E &R o

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—8 #HR
ERAEBERESEBARAKRE
SEBEANRESNABE S REME
Wk I8 (M 5E25.1) B 88 A9 12% 12 38%
ZE—F 14% K 30%) AR E
EERBREF R_ZT—NF+=A
=+—H EBURZZESIEBHBANEZ
SREMERRELEI B AREE
B 5 K& H b & Uk 3K 78 42 B8 /9 3,304,000
75 70 110,960,000/ T (=T — £ F -
3,551,000 7T & 7,443,000 7T) °



Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#HEARBRAR] \
i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

25.3 Credit risk (continued)

25. AR EER AFENE S

253 EERER (&)

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether

there is a significant increase in credit risk the Group

AEBREAEREERZBEHRD
AR YEBREREHREER

TEEHRAFEANBER - RIMAEE
ERREGHBEARER AKEK
BERBEEL 2 REREE K

RAZHERABRETHLER AEEZE
BRESHNEERBEBRNAENLESE
£t o AEBEERE Bt @HERARE
TERBENERERE SR X

compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable

and supportive forwarding-looking information. Internal

credit rating, actual or expected significant adverse MEIEBERANERXFFHERT
changes in business, financial or economic conditions MEE ERALEEBENERKE
that are expected to cause a significant change to the HEXREHRERABRARRKITA

MBAZY (BRERARAEE
MRS R ERAREXENEE)
YRATEHNER -

borrower’s ability to meet its obligations, actual or
expected significant changes in the operating results of
the borrower and significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower including
changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Group
and changes in the operating results of the borrower are

indicators to be incorporated.

AEEBRBIESEREEBBREL
BERGBREGERRARK -EFTE
EHEEBEXR AEEZEESL
TTERRAEMETE -

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the
ECL rates, the Group considers historical elements and

forward looking elements.

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) EZERREBEREGHNEE
REBERGETEZHBEEHH
HEERERRENTBREEE
BIELEE EBmBEZREK
FEREHNEEFRAGFEHRME
MEEEERE -

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all

trade receivables and contract assets.

BRHEENEZRUFENE
mErENEBEREEERXRED
WEFHBENR EREAEENE
ERABEETE  AEERBH

Assessed lifetime expected credit loss rate of
contract assets and trade receivables is close to be
zero as there are no recent history of default and
continuous payment received. Based on historical

and forward looking elements of the Group, it was

determined that loss allowance provision is minimal REERTI S BRBEMARE -
in respect of these balances as there has not been a AEFEEXREWEEANEE -

significant change in credit quality of the customers.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

25.3 Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Other receivables

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group
expects that the credit risk associated with other
receivables is considered to be low, since the
majority of these balances is due from government
authorities having a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these
receivables are minimal under the 12 months ECL
method as there is no significant increase in credit
risk on these receivables since initial recognition and
the risk of default is low during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

Bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are considered
to be insignificant because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. The Group
has assessed that the expected credit loss for bank
balances are minimal under the 12 months ECL
method as there is no significant increase in credit
risk on the bank balances since initial recognition
and the risk of default is low during the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017.
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(ii)

(iii)
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25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 25 B EREER AFEFE @)

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

25.4 Liquidity risk 25.4 7 By 1 [ B
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be e B 1 [ B T B R AR B R B FE AT HL R
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial UNRXNREHE —REER TE B &
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another BEEHAEEENREREE - AKE

RNBEBEE S NEMENKIE - BN —
B8R RIA RE AT — & B 75 FRIE LA
ERSREEETMAZRIIERR -
AEBNBERERERESKENRE
EERDBRACEFEE UFE
RHEREBRRBESELK -

financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk
in respect of settlement of trade and other payables,
amount due to a director and amount due to a related
party, and also in respect of its cash flow management.
The Group's objective is to maintain an appropriate level
of liquid assets and committed lines of funding to meet

its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the EREEEAEESBRITASENE
Group in meeting its liabilities. EmETEAl o
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's remaining RZEBE-NER_ZE—+F+_A
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities will be =+—H AEEEHAGEHNHRTE
either on demand or within one year. The carrying HMEHHBEBREARERK —FAN -2
amounts of its financial liabilities approximate their EAEENERAEREESORMIIBAIER
contractual undiscounted cash flows. emEfE e

25.5 Fair value measurement 255 AFERE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and rEENeREERAENRAER
liabilities are not materially different from their fair values EREREAHNATELESERNE
at each reporting date due to their short maturities. 2 HEREHRNZIEME -
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26.

27.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain
capital structure in order to minimise the costs of capital,

support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the debt to equity ratio. For this purpose, debt is
defined as borrowings net of cash and bank balance. In order
to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, share buyback,

issue new shares and raise new debts.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the debt to equity ratio
was not presented as the Group had no borrowings.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2017, dividends of
HK$13,353,000 were declared to the then shareholder,
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar, in which HK$3,759,000 was settled

through current account with him.

As at 31 December 2017, the current account with
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar was HK$8,073,000, resulted
from the aforesaid settlement of dividends through
current account with him, in which HK$3,073,000 were
subsequently settled and paid during the year ended 31
December 2018.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2018, the share
capital of Mannings was increased by HK$4,999,900 by
capitalising HK$4,999,900 of amount due to the then
shareholder, Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.
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AREB LA - NREBERBHEA
HEREEARB -UUME  EHEER
AR RS RIRITHER - BT HITHAE
ZHhE - BRERHAEINTRROKRE
TR ROBE - BITHRO RERHMET

RZB-NERZZE—tFF+=_A=+—8 -
I AE 2SI EEIRALL - BAREBWEER -

FEHFRERS

@ REBEE=ZE—+t&F+=-A=+—8HLt
FE MERRRRBEELESRR
813,353,000 7T + H i B AR R A
EhBR B 4% 3,759,000 7T °

R-ZTE—+HE+-_A=+—8 #AFR
FHERERREIRE 48,073,000 7T -
B BEENRSEEAE LMRE
Fr %t » 2 #3,073,00078 TLEE B A E &=
—E-N\FE+_A=t+—BULEEL
BRI e

b) REE=ZE—-—NE+=ZA=+—HL
FE FREAMENERRIRE
P FIA 4,999,900 7T 0 B AR
AN 04,999,900 7% TT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z T —/\F+_A=+—HIEFE

28. RECONCILIATIONS OF LIABILITIES ARISING 28. MEEBTELEEREYHK
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities for BHE T N\FR_Z—+F+A=+—
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows: HIEFE RETHMELEREIHENT
Amount
due to a Dividend
director payables Total
EA—=F
EENE EARE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT FHETT
As at 1 January 2017 R=—Z—tF—HA—H 5,514 - 5,514
Dividends recognised as a BRI IKHRE
distribution — 13,353 13,353
Non-cash transactions (Note 27(a)) 3EIR & %X 5 (BfsE 27(a)) 3,759 (3,759 =
Cash flows from financing MEFBFAEHESRE :
activities:
Dividends paid ERRE = (9,594) (9,594)
Cash flows from operating KEEBEHReRE
activities:
Decrease in amount due to a e —BESEFRERD
director (1,200) - (1,200)

As at 31 December 2017 and R=-ZE—+tHF+=H

1 January 2018 =+-BR=B-N\F
—HA—H 8,073 - 8,073
Non-cash transactions (Note 27(b)) FFIR €32 5 (i3 27(b)) (5,000) - (5,000)
Cash flows from financing BMEZTBAFRSRE
activities:
Dividends paid B E (3,073) - (3,073)
Cash flows from operating KRB EHReRE
activities:
Increase in amount due to JER — R ZE = FRIAE N
a director 1,500 - 1,500
As at 31 December 2018 R=-E-NE+=A
Egr=1g 1,500 - 1,500
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the I TARMEEARFEREARRHBEA-ZT—\F
Group for the last three financial years, extracted from the audited /\AZ+ N HBBREEALCEZIMEHREHR
financial statements in this annual report and the Prospectus of the SERBE=AFHRFEEXEUREE,BERH

Company dated 29 August 2018, is as follows. 2
RESULTS E4
For the year ended 31 December
BE+=-—BA=1+—HLEFE
2018 2017 2016
—E-N\E —E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FBT FAETT
Revenue g = 88,422 86,221 71,313
Cost of services Rk %5 A X (50,439) (50,831) (42,045)
Gross profit EF 37,983 35,390 29,268
Other income H YA 568 466 820
Administrative expenses THHAX (36,965) (15,294) (13,117)
Profit before income tax R P 18 B4 A A 1,586 20,562 16,971
Income tax expense TSt (3,024) (3,372) (2,809)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive AR Az IEHE AEN
(expense)/income for the year FR(FER),EIR
attributable to equity holders of 2@ (FX) WEAE
the Company (1,438) 17,190 14,162
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—H
2018 2017 2016
—E-N\E —E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET AT FBTT
Total assets BEERE 117,352 42,174 37,166
Total liabilities BEASE (6,577) (19,629) (18,458)
Total equity AR 110,775 22,545 18,708
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